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Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 13D
[Rule 13d-101]

INFORMATION TO BE INCLUDED IN STATEMENTS FILED

PURSUANT TO § 240.13d-1(a) AND AMENDMENTS

THERETO FILED PURSUANT TO § 240.13d-2(a)

(Amendment No. 1)*

Navistar International Corporation
(Name of Issuer)

Common Stock, Par Value $0.10
(Title of Class of Securities)
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(CUSIP Number)

Doron Lipshitz, Esq.

O�Melveny & Myers LLP

7 Times Square

New York, New York 10036

(212) 326-2000
(Name, Address and Telephone Number of Person Authorized to Receive Notices and Communications)

June 21, 2012
(Date of Event which Requires Filing of this Statement)

If the filing person has previously filed a statement on Schedule 13G to report the acquisition that is the subject of this Schedule 13D, and is
filing this schedule because of §§240.13d-1(e), 240.13d-1(f) or 240.13d-1(g), check the following box  ¨.

Note: Schedules filed in paper format shall include a signed original and five copies of the schedule, including all exhibits. See §240.13d-7 for
other parties to whom copies are to be sent.

(Continued on following pages)

(Page 1 of 15 Pages)

* The remainder of this cover page shall be filled out for a reporting person�s initial filing on this form with respect to the subject class of
securities, and for any subsequent amendment containing information which would alter disclosures provided in a prior cover page.

The information required on the remainder of this cover page shall not be deemed to be �filed� for the purpose of Section 18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (�Act�) or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section of the Act but shall be subject to all other provisions of the Act
(however, see the Notes).
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CUSIP No.    63934E108  13D Page 2 of 15 Pages

1 NAMES OF REPORTING PERSONS

MHR INSTITUTIONAL PARTNERS III LP
2 CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX IF A MEMBER OF A GROUP (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

(a)  ¨        (b)  x

3 SEC USE ONLY

4 SOURCE OF FUNDS (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

WC
5 CHECK IF DISCLOSURE OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS IS REQUIRED PURSUANT TO ITEMS 2(d) OR 2(e)  ¨

6 CITIZENSHIP OR PLACE OF ORGANIZATION

Delaware

NUMBER OF

SHARES

BENEFICIALLY

OWNED BY

EACH

REPORTING

PERSON

WITH

7 SOLE VOTING POWER

8,540,455
8 SHARED VOTING POWER

0
9 SOLE DISPOSITIVE POWER

8,540,455
10 SHARED DISPOSITIVE POWER

0
11 AGGREGATE AMOUNT BENEFICIALLY OWNED BY EACH REPORTING PERSON

Edgar Filing: NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 3



8,540,455
12 CHECK IF THE AGGREGATE AMOUNT IN ROW (11) EXCLUDES CERTAIN SHARES (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)    ¨

13 PERCENT OF CLASS REPRESENTED BY AMOUNT IN ROW (11)

12.5%
14 TYPE OF REPORTING PERSON (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

PN
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CUSIP No.    63934E108  13D Page 3 of 15 Pages

1 NAMES OF REPORTING PERSONS

MHR INSTITUTIONAL ADVISORS III LLC
2 CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX IF A MEMBER OF A GROUP (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

(a)  ¨        (b)  x

3 SEC USE ONLY

4 SOURCE OF FUNDS (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

AF
5 CHECK IF DISCLOSURE OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS IS REQUIRED PURSUANT TO ITEMS 2(d) OR 2(e)  ¨

6 CITIZENSHIP OR PLACE OF ORGANIZATION

Delaware

NUMBER OF

SHARES

BENEFICIALLY

OWNED BY

EACH

REPORTING

PERSON

WITH

7 SOLE VOTING POWER

8,540,455
8 SHARED VOTING POWER

0
9 SOLE DISPOSITIVE POWER

8,540,455
10 SHARED DISPOSITIVE POWER

0
11 AGGREGATE AMOUNT BENEFICIALLY OWNED BY EACH REPORTING PERSON
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8,540,455
12 CHECK IF THE AGGREGATE AMOUNT IN ROW (11) EXCLUDES CERTAIN SHARES (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)    ¨

13 PERCENT OF CLASS REPRESENTED BY AMOUNT IN ROW (11)

12.5%
14 TYPE OF REPORTING PERSON (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

OO
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CUSIP No.    63934E108  13D Page 4 of 15 Pages

1 NAMES OF REPORTING PERSONS

MHR FUND MANAGEMENT LLC
2 CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX IF A MEMBER OF A GROUP (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

(a)  ¨        (b)  x

3 SEC USE ONLY

4 SOURCE OF FUNDS (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

AF
5 CHECK IF DISCLOSURE OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS IS REQUIRED PURSUANT TO ITEMS 2(d) OR 2(e)  ¨

6 CITIZENSHIP OR PLACE OF ORGANIZATION

Delaware

NUMBER OF

SHARES

BENEFICIALLY

OWNED BY

EACH

REPORTING

PERSON

WITH

7 SOLE VOTING POWER

9,335,837
8 SHARED VOTING POWER

0
9 SOLE DISPOSITIVE POWER

9,335,837
10 SHARED DISPOSITIVE POWER

0
11 AGGREGATE AMOUNT BENEFICIALLY OWNED BY EACH REPORTING PERSON
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9,335,837
12 CHECK IF THE AGGREGATE AMOUNT IN ROW (11) EXCLUDES CERTAIN SHARES (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)    ¨

13 PERCENT OF CLASS REPRESENTED BY AMOUNT IN ROW (11)

13.6%
14 TYPE OF REPORTING PERSON (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

OO
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CUSIP No.    63934E108  13D Page 5 of 15 Pages

1 NAMES OF REPORTING PERSONS

MHR HOLDINGS LLC
2 CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX IF A MEMBER OF A GROUP (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

(a)  ¨        (b)  x

3 SEC USE ONLY

4 SOURCE OF FUNDS (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

AF
5 CHECK IF DISCLOSURE OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS IS REQUIRED PURSUANT TO ITEMS 2(d) OR 2(e)  ¨

6 CITIZENSHIP OR PLACE OF ORGANIZATION

Delaware

NUMBER OF

SHARES

BENEFICIALLY

OWNED BY

EACH

REPORTING

PERSON

WITH

7 SOLE VOTING POWER

9,335,837
8 SHARED VOTING POWER

0
9 SOLE DISPOSITIVE POWER

9,335,837
10 SHARED DISPOSITIVE POWER

0
11 AGGREGATE AMOUNT BENEFICIALLY OWNED BY EACH REPORTING PERSON
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9,335,837
12 CHECK IF THE AGGREGATE AMOUNT IN ROW (11) EXCLUDES CERTAIN SHARES (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)    ¨

13 PERCENT OF CLASS REPRESENTED BY AMOUNT IN ROW (11)

13.6%
14 TYPE OF REPORTING PERSON (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

OO
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CUSIP No.    63934E108  13D Page 6 of 15 Pages

1 NAMES OF REPORTING PERSONS

MARK H. RACHESKY, M.D.
2 CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX IF A MEMBER OF A GROUP (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

(a)  ¨        (b)  x

3 SEC USE ONLY

4 SOURCE OF FUNDS (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

AF
5 CHECK IF DISCLOSURE OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS IS REQUIRED PURSUANT TO ITEMS 2(d) OR 2(e)  ¨

6 CITIZENSHIP OR PLACE OF ORGANIZATION

United States of America

NUMBER OF

SHARES

BENEFICIALLY

OWNED BY

EACH

REPORTING

PERSON

WITH

7 SOLE VOTING POWER

9,335,837
8 SHARED VOTING POWER

0
9 SOLE DISPOSITIVE POWER

9,335,837
10 SHARED DISPOSITIVE POWER

0
11 AGGREGATE AMOUNT BENEFICIALLY OWNED BY EACH REPORTING PERSON
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9,335,837
12 CHECK IF THE AGGREGATE AMOUNT IN ROW (11) EXCLUDES CERTAIN SHARES (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)    ¨

13 PERCENT OF CLASS REPRESENTED BY AMOUNT IN ROW (11)

13.6%
14 TYPE OF REPORTING PERSON (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

IN; HC
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This statement on Schedule 13D (this �Statement�) amends and supplements, as Amendment No. 1, the Schedule 13D filed on June 15, 2012 (the
�Initial Schedule 13D�), and relates to shares of common stock, par value $0.10 per share (the �Common Stock�), of Navistar International
Corporation (the �Issuer�). Capitalized terms used in this Statement but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings given to such terms
in the Initial Schedule 13D.

Item 2. Identity and Background.
Item 2 is hereby amended by deleting such item in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

This Statement is being filed on behalf of each of the following persons (collectively, the �Reporting Persons�):

1. MHR Institutional Partners III LP (�Institutional Partners III�);

2. MHR Institutional Advisors III LLC (�Institutional Advisors III�);

3. MHR Fund Management LLC (�Fund Management�);

4. MHR Holdings LLC (�MHR Holdings�); and

5. Mark H. Rachesky, M.D. (�Dr. Rachesky�).
This Statement relates to securities held for the accounts of each of MHR Capital Partners Master Account LP, a limited partnership organized in
Anguilla, British West Indies (�Master Account�), MHR Capital Partners (100) LP (�Capital Partners (100)�) and Institutional Partners III, each
(other than Master Account) a Delaware limited partnership. MHR Advisors LLC (�Advisors�) is the general partner of each of Master Account
and Capital Partners (100) and, in such capacity, may be deemed to beneficially own the shares of Common Stock held for the accounts of each
of Master Account and Capital Partners (100). Institutional Advisors III is the general partner of Institutional Partners III and, in such capacity,
may be deemed to beneficially own the shares of Common Stock held for the account of Institutional Partners III. Fund Management is a
Delaware limited liability company that is an affiliate of and has an investment management agreement with Master Account, Capital Partners
(100) and Institutional Partners III and other affiliated entities, pursuant to which it has the power to vote or direct the vote and to dispose or to
direct the disposition of the shares of Common Stock reported herein and, accordingly, Fund Management may be deemed to beneficially own
the shares of Common Stock reported herein which are held for the accounts of each of Master Account, Capital Partners (100) and Institutional
Partners III. MHR Holdings, a Delaware limited liability company, is the managing member of Fund Management and, in such capacity, may be
deemed to beneficially own any shares of Common Stock that are deemed to be beneficially owned by Fund Management. Dr. Rachesky is the
managing member of Advisors, Institutional Advisors III and MHR Holdings and, in such capacity, may be deemed to beneficially own the
shares of Common Stock held for the accounts of each of Master Account, Capital Partners (100) and Institutional Partners III.

The Reporting Persons:

The principal business of Institutional Partners III is investment in securities. Institutional Advisors III is a Delaware limited liability company
and the general partner of Institutional Partners III. The principal business of Institutional Advisors III is to provide management and advisory
services to Institutional Partners III. Fund Management is a Delaware limited liability company. The principal business of Fund Management is
to provide management and advisory services to each of Master Account, Capital Partners (100) and Institutional Partners III and to other
affiliated entities. MHR Holdings is a Delaware limited liability company and the managing member of Fund Management. The principal
business of MHR Holdings is to act as the managing member of Fund Management. Current information concerning the identity and background
of the officer of Institutional Advisors III, Fund Management and MHR Holdings is set forth in Annex A hereto, which is incorporated by
reference in response to this Item 2. Dr. Rachesky is the managing member of Advisors, Institutional Advisors III and MHR Holdings. The
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principal occupation of Dr. Rachesky, a United States citizen, is investment management.

Each Reporting Person�s principal business address is 40 West 57th Street, 24th Floor, New York, New York 10019.

During the past five years, none of the Reporting Persons and, to the best of the Reporting Persons� knowledge, no other person identified in
response to this Item 2 has been (a) convicted in a criminal proceeding or (b) been a party to any civil proceeding of a judicial or administrative
body of competent jurisdiction and as a result of which he or it has been subject to a judgment, decree or final order enjoining future violations
of, or prohibiting or mandating activities subject to, federal or state securities laws, or finding any violation with respect to such laws.
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Item 3. Source and Amount of Funds or Other Consideration.
The last three paragraphs of Item 3 are hereby amended by deleting such paragraphs in their entirety and replacing them with the following:

Master Account and Société Générale (�SG�) entered into a share forward transaction, dated as of June 14, 2012 (the �SG Master Account Forward
Transaction�) relating to 61,292 shares of Common Stock. All of the funds required to acquire such shares are expected to be obtained from the
capital of Master Account.

Capital Partners (100) and SG entered into a share forward transaction, dated as of June 14, 2012 (the �SG Capital Partners (100) Forward
Transaction�) relating to 8,201 shares of Common Stock. All of the funds required to acquire such shares are expected to be obtained from the
capital of Capital Partners (100).

Institutional Partners III and SG entered into a share forward transaction, dated as of June 14, 2012 (the �SG Institutional Partners III Forward
Transaction� and, together with the SG Master Account Forward Transaction and the SG Capital Partners (100) Forward Transaction, the �SG
Forward Transactions�) relating to 760,086 shares of Common Stock. All of the funds required to acquire such shares are expected to be obtained
from the capital of Institutional Partners III.

Item 4. Purpose of Transaction.
Item 4 is hereby amended by deleting such item in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

The Reporting Persons acquired the shares of Common Stock reported herein because of their view that the shares are undervalued. The
Reporting Persons intend to engage in discussions with management, and may seek to engage in discussions with others, concerning the
business, operations, strategy and future plans of the Issuer.

(a) Depending upon a variety of factors, including, without limitation, the price levels of shares of Common Stock, the financial condition,
results of operations and prospects of the Issuer, conditions in the Issuer�s industry and securities markets, general economic, industry, regulatory
and other conditions, general investment and trading policies of the Reporting Persons, other investment opportunities available to the Reporting
Persons, and other factors that they may deem relevant to their investment decision, the Reporting Persons may from time to time acquire, or
cause to be acquired, additional securities of the Issuer or dispose, or cause to be disposed, such securities, in open market transactions, privately
negotiated transactions, derivative transactions or otherwise.

The Reporting Persons reserve the right, from time to time, to formulate plans or proposals that relate to or would result in the occurrence of any
of the transactions described in subparagraphs (a) through (j) of Item 4 of Schedule 13D. The Reporting Persons intend from time to time to
evaluate the Issuer and review their holdings of shares of Common Stock on a continuing basis and may in the future take such actions with
respect to their investment in the Issuer as they deem appropriate. Such actions include, without limitation: (i) increasing or decreasing their
position in the Issuer, including acquiring or disposing of other classes of the Issuer�s securities; (ii) seeking to acquire or influence control of the
Issuer, the means of which may include the right to designate individuals on the Board of the Issuer; (iii) engaging in short selling of or any
hedging or similar transaction with respect to shares of Common Stock; (iv) undertaking an extraordinary corporate transaction such as a tender
offer or exchange offer for some or all of the shares of Common Stock or a merger, consolidation, other business combination or reorganization
involving the Issuer; or (v) taking any other action to enhance shareholder value. The information set forth in this Item 4 is subject to change at
any time, and there can be no assurances that any of the Reporting Persons will or will not take any of the actions described above.

The information set forth in Item 6 below and Exhibits 2 through 7 to the Initial Schedule 13D are incorporated into this Item 4 by reference.
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Item 5. Interest in Securities of the Issuer.
Item 5 is hereby amended by deleting such item in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

The percentages set forth below are calculated based on information contained in the Issuer�s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended April 30,
2012, which disclosed that there were 68,546,949 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of May 31, 2012.

(a) (i) Master Account may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of 701,587 shares of Common Stock held for its own account (approximately
1.0% of the total number of shares of Common Stock outstanding, calculated in accordance with Rule 13d-3(d)(1)(i) under the Act).

(ii) Capital Partners (100) may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of 93,795 shares of Common Stock held for its own account
(approximately 0.1% of the total number of shares of Common Stock outstanding, calculated in accordance with Rule 13d-3(d)(1)(i) under the
Act).

(iii) Advisors may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of 795,382 shares of Common Stock (approximately 1.2% of the total number of shares
of Common Stock outstanding, calculated in accordance with Rule 13d-3(d)(1)(i) under the Act). This number consists of (A) 701,587 shares of
Common Stock held for the account of Master Account and (B) 93,795 shares of Common Stock held for the account of Capital Partners (100).

(iv) Institutional Partners III may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of 8,540,455 shares of Common Stock held for its own account
(approximately 12.5% of the total number of shares of Common Stock outstanding, calculated in accordance with Rule 13d-3 (d)(1)(i) under the
Act).

(v) Institutional Advisors III may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of 8,540,455 shares of Common Stock (approximately 12.5% of the total
number of shares of Common Stock outstanding, calculated in accordance with Rule 13d-3(d)(1)(i) under the Act). This number consists of
8,540,455 shares of Common Stock held for the account of Institutional Partners III.

(vi) Fund Management may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of 9,335,837 shares of Common Stock (approximately 13.6% of the total
number of shares of Common Stock outstanding, calculated in accordance with Rule 13d-3(d)(1)(i) under the Act). This number consists of all
of the shares of Common Stock otherwise described in this Item 5 by virtue of Fund Management�s investment management agreement with
Master Account, Capital Partners (100) and Institutional Partners III.

(vii) MHR Holdings may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of 9,335,837 shares of Common Stock (approximately 13.6% of the total number
of shares of Common Stock outstanding, calculated in accordance with Rule 13d-3(d)(1)(i) under the Act). This number consists of all of the
shares of Common Stock otherwise described in this Item 5 by virtue of MHR Holdings� position as the managing member of Fund Management.

(viii) Dr. Rachesky may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of 9,335,837 shares of Common Stock (approximately 13.6% of the total number
of shares of Common Stock outstanding, calculated in accordance with Rule 13d-3(d)(1)(i) under the Act). This number consists of all of the
shares of Common Stock otherwise described in this Item 5 by virtue of Dr. Rachesky�s position as the managing member of each of Advisors,
Institutional Advisors III and MHR Holdings.

(b) (i) Master Account may be deemed to have (x) the sole power to direct the disposition of 701,587 shares of Common Stock which may be
deemed to be beneficially owned by Master Account as described above, and (y) the sole power to direct the voting of 701,587 shares of
Common Stock which may be deemed to be beneficially owned by Master Account as described above.

(ii) Capital Partners (100) may be deemed to have (x) the sole power to direct the disposition of 93,795 shares of Common Stock which may be
deemed to be beneficially owned by Capital Partners (100) as described above, and (y) the sole power to direct the voting of 93,795 shares of
Common Stock which may be deemed to be beneficially owned by Capital Partners (100) as described above.

(iii) Advisors may be deemed to have (x) the sole power to direct the disposition of 795,382 shares of Common Stock which may be deemed to
be beneficially owned by Advisors as described above, and (y) the sole power to direct the voting of 795,382 shares of Common Stock which
may be deemed to be beneficially owned by Advisors as described above.
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(iv) Institutional Partners III may be deemed to have (x) the sole power to direct the disposition of 8,540,455 shares of Common Stock which
may be deemed to be beneficially owned by Institutional Partners III as described above, and (y) the sole power to direct the voting of 8,540,455
shares of Common Stock which may be deemed to be beneficially owned by Institutional Partners III as described above.

Edgar Filing: NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 18



Table of Contents

Page 11 of 15 Pages

(v) Institutional Advisors III may be deemed to have (x) the sole power to direct the disposition of 8,540,455 shares of Common Stock which
may be deemed to be beneficially owned by Institutional Advisors III as described above, and (y) the sole power to direct the voting of
8,540,455 shares of Common Stock which may be deemed to be beneficially owned by Institutional Advisors III as described above.

(vi) Fund Management may be deemed to have (x) the sole power to direct the disposition of 9,335,837 shares of Common Stock which may be
deemed to be beneficially owned by Fund Management as described above, and (y) the sole power to direct the voting of 9,335,837 shares of
Common Stock which may be deemed to be beneficially owned by Fund Management as described above.

(vii) MHR Holdings may be deemed to have (x) the sole power to direct the disposition of 9,335,837 shares of Common Stock which may be
deemed to be beneficially owned by MHR Holdings as described above, and (y) the sole power to direct the voting of 9,335,837 shares of
Common Stock which may be deemed to be beneficially owned by MHR Holdings as described above.

(viii) Dr. Rachesky may be deemed to have (x) the sole power to direct the disposition of 9,335,837 shares of Common Stock which may be
deemed to be beneficially owned by Dr. Rachesky as described above, and (y) the sole power to direct the voting of 9,335,837 shares of
Common Stock which may be deemed to be beneficially owned by Dr. Rachesky as described above.

(c) Not Applicable.

(d) (i) The partners of Master Account, including Advisors, have the right to participate in the receipt of dividends from, or proceeds from the
sale of, Common Stock held for the account of Master Account in accordance with their partnership interests in Master Account.

(ii) The partners of Capital Partners (100), including Advisors, have the right to participate in the receipt of dividends from, or proceeds from the
sale of, Common Stock held for the account of Capital Partners (100) in accordance with their partnership interests in Capital Partners (100).

(iii) The partners of Institutional Partners III, including Institutional Advisors III, have the right to participate in the receipt of dividends from, or
proceeds from the sale of, Common Stock held for the account of Institutional Partners III in accordance with their partnership interests in
Institutional Partners III.

(e) Not Applicable.

Item 6. Contracts, Arrangements, Understandings or Relationships with respect to the Securities of the Issuer.
Item 6 is hereby amended to add the following:

On June 22, 2012, following receipt of written notice of the early termination of the applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino
Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 on June 21, 2012, Institutional Partners III delivered notices to DB and SG electing to physically settle the
DB Institutional Partners III Forward Transaction and SG Institutional Partners III Forward Transaction, respectively, by delivery of Common
Stock.

On June 22, 2012, Master Account and Capital Partners (100) delivered a notice to DB and SG electing to physically settle the DB Master
Account Forward Transaction, DB Capital Partners (100) Forward Transaction, SG Master Account Forward Transaction and SG Capital
Partners (100) Forward Transaction, respectively, by delivery of Common Stock.

As required by the DB Forward Transactions and SG Forward Transactions, the settlement date for physical delivery of the 5,483,756 shares of
Common Stock underlying the DB Forward Transactions and 829,579 shares of Common Stock underlying the SG Forward Transactions,
respectively, will occur on or before June 29, 2012, at which time the DB Forward Transactions and SG Forward Transactions will terminate in
their entirety.

Except as otherwise described herein, there are no contracts, arrangements, understandings or relationships (legal or otherwise) among the
persons named in Item 2 and between such persons and any other person, including any other securityholder of the Issuer, with respect to any
securities of the Issuer.
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Item 7. Material to be Filed as Exhibits.

Exhibit
No. Description

1 Joint Filing Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2012, by and among Institutional Partners III, Institutional Advisors III, Fund
Management, MHR Holdings and Dr. Rachesky.
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SIGNATURES

After reasonable inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, the undersigned certifies that the information set forth in this Statement is
true, complete and correct.

Date:
June 25,
2012

MHR
INSTITUTIONAL
PARTNERS III LP

By:

MHR
Institutional
Advisors III
LLC,
its General
Partner

By:
/s/ Janet
Yeung

Name: Janet Yeung

Title:
Authorized
Signatory

MHR
INSTITUTIONAL
ADVISORS III
LLC

By:
/s/ Janet
Yeung

Name: Janet Yeung

Title:
Authorized
Signatory

MHR FUND
MANAGEMENT
LLC

By:
/s/ Janet
Yeung

Name: Janet Yeung

Title:
Authorized
Signatory

MHR HOLDINGS
LLC

By:
/s/ Janet
Yeung

Name: Janet Yeung

Title:
Authorized
Signatory

Edgar Filing: NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 21



A significant portion of our revenue and backlog is generated from a few major customers such as
Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railroad, GE Equipment Services, Union Pacific Railroad and Crowley
Maritime. Although we have some long-term contractual relationships with our major customers, we
cannot be assured that our customers will continue to use our products or services or that they will
continue to do so at historical levels. A reduction in the purchase or leasing of our products or a
termination of our services by one or more of our major customers could have an adverse effect on
our business and operating results.

Fluctuations in the availability and price of steel and other raw materials could have an adverse
effect on our ability to manufacture and sell our products on a cost-effective basis and could
adversely affect our margins and revenue of our refurbishment and parts business.

A significant portion of our business depends upon the adequate supply of steel at competitive prices
and a small number of suppliers provide a substantial amount of our requirements. The cost of steel
and all other materials used in the production of our railcars represents over two-thirds of our direct
manufacturing costs per railcar.

Our businesses depend upon the adequate supply of other materials, including castings and specialty
components, at competitive prices. We cannot be assured that we will continue to have access to
supplies of necessary components for manufacturing railcars. Our ability to meet demand for our
products could be adversely affected by the loss of access to any of these supplies, the inability to
arrange alternative access to any materials, or suppliers limiting allocation of materials to us.

If the price of steel or other raw materials were to fluctuate and we were unable to adjust our selling
prices or have adequate protection in our contracts against changes in material prices or reduce
operating costs to offset any price increases, our margins would be adversely affected. The loss of
suppliers or their inability to meet our price, quality, quantity and delivery requirements could have
an adverse effect on our ability to manufacture and sell our products on a cost-effective basis.

When the price of scrap steel decreases it adversely impacts our refurbishment and parts margin and
revenue. Part of our refurbishment and parts business involves scrapping steel parts and the resulting
revenue from such scrap steel increases our margins and revenues. When the price of scrap steel
declines, our margins and revenues in such business therefore decrease.

 12 The Greenbrier Companies 2008 Annual Report
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Our backlog is not necessarily indicative of the level of our future revenues.

Our manufacturing backlog is future production for which we have written orders from our customers
in various periods, and estimated potential revenue attributable to the backlog. Some of this backlog
is subject to our fulfillment of certain competitive conditions. Our reported backlog may not be
converted to revenue in any particular period and actual revenue from such contracts may not equal
our backlog revenues. Therefore, our backlog is not necessarily indicative of the level of our future
revenues.

The timing of our asset sales and related revenue recognition could cause significant differences in
our quarterly results and liquidity.

We may build railcars in anticipation of a customer order, or that are leased to a customer and
ultimately sold to a third-party. The difference in timing of production of the railcars and the sale of
such railcars could cause a fluctuation in our quarterly results and liquidity. In addition, we
periodically sell railcars from our own lease fleet and the timing and volume of such sales is difficult
to predict. As a result, comparisons of our quarterly revenues, income and liquidity between quarterly
periods within one year and between comparable periods in different years may not be meaningful
and should not be relied upon as indicators of our future performance.

A change in our product mix, a failure to design or manufacture products or technologies or
achieve certification or market acceptance of new products or technologies or introduction of
products by our competitors could have an adverse effect on our profitability and competitive
position.

We manufacture and repair a variety of railcars. The demand for specific types of these railcars and
mix of refurbishment work varies from time to time. These shifts in demand could affect our margins
and could have an adverse effect on our profitability.

We continue to introduce new railcar products and technologies and periodically accept orders prior
to receipt of railcar certification or proof of ability to manufacture a quality product that meets
customer standards. We could be unable to successfully design or manufacture these new railcar
products and technologies. Our inability to develop and manufacture such new products and
technologies in a timely and profitable manner, to obtain certification, and achieve market acceptance
or the existence of quality problems in our new products would have a material adverse effect on our
revenue and results of operations and subject us to penalties, cancellation of orders and/or other
damages. A new tank car line is scheduled to begin delivering cars in the first quarter of 2009. We
have not previously designed, certified or manufactured tank cars for the North American market.

In addition, new technologies, changes in product mix or the introduction of new railcars and product
offerings by our competitors could render our products obsolete or less competitive. As a result, our
ability to compete effectively could be harmed.

We could be unable to remarket leased railcars on favorable terms upon lease termination or
realize the expected residual values, which could reduce our revenue and decrease our overall
return.

We re-lease or sell railcars we own upon the expiration of existing lease terms. The total rental
payments we receive under our operating leases do not fully amortize the acquisition costs of the
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leased equipment, which exposes us to risks associated with remarketing the railcars. Our ability to
remarket leased railcars profitably is dependent upon several factors, including, but not limited to,
market and industry conditions, cost of and demand for newer models, costs associated with the
refurbishment of the railcars and interest rates. Our inability to re-lease or sell leased railcars on
favorable terms could result in reduced revenues, margins and decrease our overall returns.
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Our manufacturer�s warranties could expose us to potentially significant claims.

We offer our customers limited warranties for many of our products. Accordingly, we may be subject
to significant warranty claims in the future, such as multiple claims based on one defect repeated
throughout our production process or claims for which the cost of repairing the defective part is
highly disproportionate to the original cost of the part. These types of warranty claims could result in
costly product recalls, customers seeking monetary damages, significant repair costs and damage to
our reputation.

If warranty claims attributable to actions of third party component manufacturers are not recoverable
from such parties due to their poor financial condition or other reasons, we could be liable for
warranty claims and other risks for using these materials on our railcars.

A reduction in negotiated or arbitrated car hire rates could reduce future car hire revenue.

A significant portion of our leasing & services revenue is derived from �car hire,� which is a fee that a
railroad pays for the use of railcars owned by other railroads or third parties. Until 1992, the Interstate
Commerce Commission directly regulated car hire rates by prescribing a formula for calculating these
rates. The system of government prescribed rates has been superseded by a system known as
deprescription, whereby railcar owners and users have the right to negotiate car hire rates. If the
railcar owner and railcar user cannot come to an agreement on a car hire rate, then either party has the
right to call for arbitration, in which either the owner�s or user�s rate is selected by the arbitrator to be
effective for a one-year period. Substantially all railcars in our fleet are subject to deprescription.
There is a risk that car hire rates could be negotiated or arbitrated to lower levels in the future. A
reduction in car hire rates could reduce future car hire revenue and adversely affect our financial
results.

Risks related to our operations outside of the United States could adversely impact our operating
results.

Our operations outside of the United States are subject to the risks associated with cross-border
business transactions and activities. Political, legal, trade or economic changes or instability could
limit or curtail our foreign business activities and operations. Some foreign countries in which we
operate have regulatory authorities that regulate railroad safety, railcar design and railcar component
part design, performance and manufacturing. If we fail to obtain and maintain certifications of our
railcars and railcar parts within the various foreign countries where we operate, we may be unable to
market and sell our railcars in those countries. In addition, unexpected changes in regulatory
requirements, tariffs and other trade barriers, more stringent rules relating to labor or the environment,
adverse tax consequences and price exchange controls could limit operations and make the
manufacture and distribution of our products difficult. The uncertainty of the legal environment or
geo-political risks in these and other areas could limit our ability to enforce our rights effectively.
Any international expansion or acquisition that we undertake could amplify these risks related to
operating outside of the United States.

Some of our employees belong to labor unions and strikes or work stoppages could adversely affect
our operations.

We are a party to collective bargaining agreements with various labor unions at some of our
operations. Disputes with regard to the terms of these agreements or our potential inability to

Edgar Filing: NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 25



negotiate acceptable contracts with these unions in the future could result in, among other things,
strikes, work stoppages or other slowdowns by the affected workers. We cannot be assured that our
relations with our workforce will remain positive or that union organizers will not be successful in
future attempts to organize at some of our other facilities. If our workers were to engage in a strike,
work stoppage or other slowdown, or other employees were to become unionized or the terms and
conditions in future labor agreements were renegotiated, we could experience a significant disruption
of our operations and higher ongoing labor costs. In addition, we could face higher labor costs in the
future as a result of severance or other charges associated with lay-offs, shutdowns or reductions in
the size and scope of our operations.
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Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could lead to increased costs and lower
profitability.

Outside of the United States, we operate in Mexico, Germany and Poland, and our
non-U.S. businesses conduct their operations in local currencies and other regional currencies. We
also source materials worldwide. Fluctuations in exchange rates may affect demand for our products
in foreign markets or our cost competitiveness and may adversely affect our profitability. Although
we attempt to mitigate a portion of our exposure to changes in currency rates through currency rate
hedge contracts and other activities, these efforts cannot fully eliminate the risks associated with the
foreign currencies. In addition, some of our borrowings are in foreign currency, giving rise to risk
from fluctuations in exchange rates. A material or adverse change in exchange rates could result in
significant deterioration of profits or in losses for us.

We have potential exposure to environmental liabilities, which could increase costs or have an
adverse effect on results of operations.

We are subject to extensive national, state, provincial and local environmental laws and regulations
concerning, among other things, air emissions, water discharge, solid waste and hazardous substances
handling and disposal and employee health and safety. These laws and regulations are complex and
frequently change. We could incur unexpected costs, penalties and other civil and criminal liability if
we fail to comply with environmental laws. We also could incur costs or liabilities related to off-site
waste disposal or remediating soil or groundwater contamination at our properties. In addition, future
environmental laws and regulations may require significant capital expenditures or changes to our
operations.

Our Portland facility is located adjacent to a portion of the Willamette River that has been designated
as a federal �National Priority List� or �Superfund� site due to sediment contamination. We, and more
than 80 other parties, have received a �General Notice� of potential liability related to the Portland
facility. The letter advised that we may be liable for the cost of investigation and remediation (which
liability may be joint and several with other potential responsible parties) as well as natural resource
damages resulting from the release of hazardous substances to the site. More than 280 parties have
received letters from the EPA requesting information that could lead to additional General Notice
letters. In addition, we have entered into a Voluntary Clean-Up Agreement with the Oregon
Department of Environmental Quality in which we agreed to conduct an investigation of whether, and
to what extent, past or present operations at our Portland property may have released hazardous
substances to the environment. Under this oversight, we also are conducting groundwater remediation
relating to a historical spill on our property which occurred prior to our ownership. As a result of the
above described matters, we have incurred, and expect to incur in the future, costs associated with an
EPA-mandated remedial investigation and the State of Oregon�s mandate to control groundwater
discharges. Because this work is still underway, we are unable to determine the amount of our
ultimate liability relating to these matters. In addition, we could be required to perform periodic
maintenance dredging in order to continue to launch vessels from our launch ways on the river, and
the river�s classification as a Superfund site could result in some limitations on future dredging and
launch activities. The outcome of these matters could have an adverse effect upon our business,
results of operations and on our ability to realize value from a potential sale of the land.

We could be liable for physical damage or product liability claims that exceed our insurance
coverage.
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The nature of our business subjects us to physical damage and product liability claims, especially in
connection with the repair and manufacture of products that carry hazardous or volatile materials. We
maintain reserves and liability insurance coverage at commercially reasonable levels compared to
similarly-sized heavy equipment manufacturers. However, an unusually large physical damage or
product liability claim or a series of claims based on a failure repeated throughout our production
process could exceed our insurance coverage or result in damage to our reputation.
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Shortages of skilled labor could adversely impact our operations.

We depend on skilled labor in the manufacture, repair and refurbishment of railcars. Some of our
facilities are located in areas where demand for skilled laborers often exceeds supply. Shortages of
some types of skilled laborers such as welders could restrict our ability to maintain or increase
production rates and could increase our labor costs.

We depend on a third party to provide most of the labor services for our operations in Sahagun,
Mexico and if such third party fails to provide the labor, it could adversely effect our operations.

In Sahagun, Mexico, we depend on a third party to provide us with most of the labor services for our
operations under a services agreement. This agreement has a term of three years expiring on
November 30, 2011, with one three-year option to renew. All of the labor provided by the third party
is subject to collective bargaining agreements, over which we have no control. If the third party fails
to provide us with the services required by our agreement for any reason, including labor stoppages or
strikes or a sale of facilities owned by the third party, our operations could be adversely effected. In
addition, we do not have significant experience in hiring labor in Mexico and, if required to provide
our own labor, could face significantly higher labor costs, which also could have an adverse effect on
our operations.

We could experience interruption of our manufacturing operations in Mexico which would
adversely affect our results of operations.

In Sahagun, Mexico, we lease our manufacturing facility from a third party. The lease agreement has
a term of three years expiring on December 1, 2011, with one three-year option to renew. We could
incur substantial expense and interruption of our manufacturing production if we were to relocate to a
different location. In addition, there can be no assurance that we would be able to find a suitable
alternative location or enter into a lease for a new location on favorable terms.

Our relationships with our joint venture and alliance partners could be unsuccessful, which could
adversely affect our business.

In recent years, we have entered into several joint venture agreements and other alliances with other
companies to increase our sourcing alternatives, reduce costs, and to produce new railcars for the
North American marketplace. We may seek to expand our relationships or enter into new agreements
with other companies. If our joint venture alliance partners are unable to fulfill their contractual
obligations or if these relationships are otherwise not successful in the future, our manufacturing costs
could increase, we could encounter production disruptions, growth opportunities could fail to
materialize, or we could be required to fund such joint venture alliances in amounts significantly
greater than initially anticipated, any of which could adversely affect our business.

We could have difficulty integrating the operations of any companies that we acquire, which could
adversely affect our results of operations.

The success of our acquisition strategy depends upon our ability to successfully complete acquisitions
and integrate any businesses that we acquire into our existing business. The integration of acquired
business operations could disrupt our business by causing unforeseen operating difficulties, diverting
management�s attention from day-to-day operations and requiring significant financial resources that
would otherwise be used for the ongoing development of our business. The difficulties of integration
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could be increased by the necessity of coordinating geographically dispersed organizations,
integrating personnel with disparate business backgrounds and combining different corporate
cultures. In addition, we could be unable to retain key employees or customers of the combined
businesses. We could face integration issues pertaining to the internal controls and operational
functions of the acquired companies and we also could fail to realize cost efficiencies or synergies
that we anticipated when selecting our acquisition candidates. Any of these items could adversely
affect our results of operations.
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If we are not successful in succession planning for our senior management team our business
could be adversely impacted.

Several key members of our senior management team are at or nearing retirement age. If we are
unsuccessful in our succession planning efforts, the continuity of our business and results of
operations could be adversely impacted.

We could be unable to procure adequate insurance on a cost-effective basis in the future.

The ability to insure our businesses, facilities and rail assets is an important aspect of our ability to
manage risk. As there are only limited providers of this insurance to the railcar industry, there is no
guarantee that such insurance will be available on a cost-effective basis in the future. In addition, due
to recent extraordinary economic events that have significantly weakened many major insurance
underwriters, we can not assure that our insurance carriers will be able to pay current or future claims.

An adverse outcome in any pending or future litigation could negatively impact our business and
results of operations.

We are a defendant in several pending cases in various jurisdictions. If we are unsuccessful in
resolving these claims, our business and results of operations could be adversely affected. In addition,
future claims that may arise relating to any pending or new matters could distract management�s
attention from business operations and increase our legal and defense costs, which could also
negatively impact our business and results of operations.

Any failure by us to comply with regulations imposed by federal and foreign agencies could
negatively affect our financial results.

Our manufacturing operations are subject to extensive regulation by governmental, regulatory and
industry authorities and by federal and foreign agencies. These organizations establish rules and
regulations for the railcar industry, including construction specifications and standards for the design
and manufacture of railcars; mechanical, maintenance and related standards; and railroad safety. New
regulatory rulings and regulations from these entities could impact our financial results and the
economic value of our assets. In addition, if we fail to comply with the requirements and regulations
of these entities, we could face sanctions and penalties that could negatively affect our financial
results.

Our financial performance and market value could cause future write-downs of goodwill in future
periods.

With the adoption of Statement of Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, Accounting for Goodwill
and Other Intangibles, goodwill is no longer amortized; however, we are required to perform an
annual impairment review which could result in impairment write-downs to goodwill. If the carrying
value is in excess of the fair value, the carrying value will be adjusted to fair value through an
impairment charge. As of August 31, 2008, we had $200.1 million of goodwill. Our stock price can
impact the results of the impairment review of goodwill. The recent drop in our stock price could
cause us to record an impairment of goodwill when we perform the annual review for 2009.

Our implementation of new enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems could result in problems
that could negatively impact our business.
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We are in the process of the design and implementation of ERP and related systems that support
substantially all of our operating and financial functions. We could experience problems in
connection with such implementations, including compatibility issues, training requirements, higher
than expected implementation costs and other integration challenges and delays. A significant
implementation problem, if encountered, could negatively impact our business by disrupting our
operations. Additionally, a significant problem with the implementation, integration with other
systems or ongoing management of ERP and related systems could have an adverse effect on
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our ability to generate and interpret accurate management and financial reports and other information
on a timely basis, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial reporting system and
internal controls and adversely affect our ability to manage our business.

Our governing documents contain some provisions that could prevent or make more difficult an
attempt to acquire us.

Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, as currently in effect, contain some provisions that could
be deemed to have anti-takeover effects, including:
�  a classified board of directors, with each class containing as nearly as possible one-third of the

total number of members of the board of directors and the members of each class serving for
staggered three-year terms;

�  a vote of at least 55% of our voting securities to amend some provisions of our Articles of
Incorporation;

�  no less than 120 days� advance notice with respect to nominations of directors or other matters to
be voted on by shareholders other than by or at the direction of the board of directors;

�  removal of directors only with cause; and
�  the calling of special meetings of stockholders only by the president, a majority of the board of

directors or the holders of not less than 25% of all votes entitled to be cast on the matters to be
considered at such meeting.

We also maintain a stockholder rights plan pursuant to which each stockholder has received a
dividend distribution of one preferred stock purchase right per share of common stock owned. The
stockholder rights plan and the other provisions discussed above could have anti-takeover effects
because they may delay, defer or prevent an unsolicited acquisition proposal that some, or a majority,
of our stockholders might believe to be in their best interests or in which stockholders might receive a
premium for their common stock over the then-prevailing market price.

The Oregon Control Share Act and business combination law could limit parties who acquire a
significant amount of voting shares from exercising control over us for specific periods of time. These
acts could lengthen the period for a proxy contest or for a shareholder to vote their shares to elect the
majority of our Board and change management.

Item 1b. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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Item 2.    PROPERTIES

We operate at the following primary facilities as of August 31, 2008:

Description Location Status

Manufacturing Segment

Railcar manufacturing: Portland, Oregon
Sahagun, Mexico
Frontera, Mexico
Swidnica, Poland

Owned
Leased
Leased
Owned

Marine manufacturing: Portland, Oregon Owned

Refurbishment & Parts
Segment

Railcar repair: 19 locations in the United
States and 2 locations in
Mexico

Leased � 15 locations
Owned � 6 locations

Wheel reconditioning: 10 locations in the United
States and 2 locations in
Mexico

Leased � 8 locations
Owned � 4 locations

Parts fabrication and
reconditioning:

6 locations in the United States Leased � 3 locations
Owned � 3 locations

Administrative offices 2 locations in the United States Leased

Leasing & Services Segment
Corporate offices, railcar
marketing and leasing activities

Lake Oswego, Oregon Leased

We believe that our facilities are in good condition and that the facilities, together with anticipated
capital improvements and additions, are adequate to meet our operating needs for the foreseeable
future. We continually evaluate the need for expansion and upgrading of our railcar manufacturing
and refurbishment facilities in order to remain competitive and to take advantage of market
opportunities.

Item 3.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, Greenbrier is involved as a defendant in litigation in the ordinary course of
business, the outcome of which cannot be predicted with certainty. The most significant litigation is
as follows:

On April 20, 2004, BC Rail Partnership initiated litigation against the Company and TrentonWorks in
the Supreme Court of Nova Scotia, alleging breach of contract and negligent manufacture and design
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of railcars which were involved in a 1999 derailment. No trial date has been set.

Greenbrier and a customer, SEB Finans AB (SEB), have raised performance concerns related to a
component that the Company installed on 372 railcar units with an aggregate sales value of
approximately $20.0 million produced under a contract with SEB. On December 9, 2005, SEB filed a
Statement of Claim in an arbitration proceeding in Stockholm, Sweden, against Greenbrier alleging
that the cars were defective and could not be used for their intended purpose. A settlement agreement
was entered into effective February 28, 2007 pursuant to which the railcar units previously delivered
were to be repaired and the remaining units completed and delivered to SEB. Greenbrier is
proceeding with repairs of the railcars in accordance with terms of the settlement agreement. Current
estimates of potential costs of such repairs do not exceed amounts accrued in warranty.

When the Company acquired the assets of the Freight Wagon Division of DaimlerChrysler in January
2000, it acquired a contract to build 201 freight cars for Okombi, a European freight car leasing
company. Subsequently, Okombi made breach of warranty and late delivery claims against the
Company which grew out of design and certification problems. All of these issues were settled as of
March 2004. Recently, new allegations have been made, the most serious of which involve cracks to
the structure of the cars. Okombi has been required to remove all 201 freight cars from service, and a
formal claim has been made against the Company. Legal and commercial
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evaluations are on-going to determine what obligations the Company might have, if any, to remedy
the alleged defects.

Management intends to vigorously defend its position in each of the open foregoing cases and
believes that any ultimate liability resulting from the above litigation will not materially affect the
Company�s Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company is involved as a defendant in other litigation initiated in the ordinary course of
business. While the ultimate outcome of such legal proceedings cannot be determined at this time,
management believes that the resolution of these actions will not have a material adverse effect on the
Company�s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Item 4.    SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.

PART II

Item 5.    MARKET FOR REGISTRANT�S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Our common stock has been traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol GBX since
July 14, 1994. There were approximately 415 holders of record of common stock as of October 30,
2008. The following table shows the reported high and low sales prices of our common stock on the
New York Stock Exchange for the fiscal periods indicated.

High Low

2008
Fourth quarter $  26.30 $  17.28
Third quarter $ 28.88 $ 21.97
Second quarter $ 29.52 $ 16.03
First quarter $ 30.65 $ 21.17
2007
Fourth quarter $ 38.99 $ 26.25
Third quarter $ 32.15 $ 21.44
Second quarter $ 37.75 $ 26.20
First quarter $ 41.21 $ 26.05

Quarterly dividends of $.08 per share have been declared since the fourth quarter of 2005. Quarterly
dividends of $.06 per share were declared from the fourth quarter of 2004 through the third quarter of
2005. There is no assurance as to the payment of future dividends as they are dependent upon future
earnings, capital requirements and our financial condition.
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Performance Graph

The following graph demonstrates a comparison of cumulative total returns for the Company�s
Common Stock, the Dow Jones US Industrial Transportation Index and the Standard & Poors (S&P)
500 Index. The graph assumes an investment of $100 on August 31, 2003 in each of the Company�s
Common Stock and the stocks comprising the indices. Each of the indices assumes that all dividends
were reinvested and that the investment was maintained to and including August 31, 2008, the end of
the Company�s 2008 year.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among The Greenbrier Companies, Inc., The S&P 500 Index
And The Dow Jones US Industrial Transportation Index

* $100 invested on 8/31/03 in stock & index-including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending
August 31.

Copyright© 2008 S&P, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. All rights reserved.

Copyright© 2008 Dow Jones & Co. All rights reserved.
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Item 6.    SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Statement of Operations Data
Revenue:
Manufacturing $ 665,093 $ 738,424 $ 748,818 $ 844,496 $ 576,638
Refurbishment & parts 527,466 381,670 102,471 96,665 76,596
Leasing & services 97,520 103,734 102,534 83,061 76,217

$  1,290,079 $  1,223,828 $  953,823 $  1,024,222 $  729,451

Earnings from continuing operations $ 19,542 $ 22,010 $ 39,536 $ 29,822 $ 20,039
Earnings from discontinued operations � � 62(2) � 739

Net earnings $ 19,542(1) $ 22,010(1) $ 39,598 $ 29,822 $ 20,778

Basic earnings per common share:
Continuing operations $ 1.19 $ 1.37 $ 2.51 $ 1.99 $ 1.38
Net earnings $ 1.19 $ 1.37 $ 2.51 $ 1.99 $ 1.43
Diluted earnings per common share:
Continuing operations $ 1.19 $ 1.37 $ 2.48 $ 1.92 $ 1.32
Net earnings $ 1.19 $ 1.37 $ 2.48 $ 1.92 $ 1.37
Weighted average common shares
outstanding:
Basic 16,395 16,056 15,751 15,000 14,569
Diluted 16,417 16,094 15,937 15,560 15,199
Cash dividends paid per share $ .32 $ .32 $ .32 $ .26 $ .06
Balance Sheet Data
Total assets $ 1,256,960 $ 1,072,749 $ 877,314 $ 671,207 $ 508,753
Revolving notes and notes payable $ 601,816 $ 500,483 $ 384,743 $ 227,088 $ 106,460
Stockholders� equity $ 260,527 $ 243,590 $ 219,281 $ 176,059 $ 139,289
Other Operating Data
New railcar units delivered 7,300 8,600 11,400 13,200 10,800
New railcar units backlog 16,200 12,100 14,700 9,600 13,100
Lease fleet:
Units managed 137,697 136,558 135,320 128,645 122,676
Units owned 8,631 8,663 9,311 9,958 10,683
Cash Flow Data
Capital expenditures:
Manufacturing $ 24,113 $ 20,361 $ 15,121 $ 11,759 $ 5,804
Refurbishment & parts 7,651 5,009 2,906 4,559 1,357
Leasing & services 45,880 111,924 122,542 52,805 35,798

$ 77,644 $ 137,294 $ 140,569 $ 69,123 $ 42,959

Proceeds from sale of equipment $ 14,598 $ 119,695 $ 28,863 $ 32,528 $ 16,217

Depreciation and amortization:
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Manufacturing $ 11,267 $ 10,762 $ 10,258 $ 10,003 $ 7,347
Refurbishment & parts 10,338 9,042 2,360 2,202 2,052
Leasing & services 13,481 13,022 12,635 10,734 11,441

$ 35,086 $ 32,826 $ 25,253 $ 22,939 $ 20,840

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges(3) 1.65 1.74 2.83 3.55 2.84
(1) 2008 includes special charges of $2.3 million related to the closure of our Canadian subsidiary.

2007 includes special charges of $21.9 million related to the impairment and closure of our
Canadian subsidiary. In addition, an $8.2 million tax benefit related to the write-off of our
investment in our Canadian subsidiary for tax purposes was recorded in 2007.

(2) Consists of a reduction in loss contingency associated with the settlement of litigation relating to
the logistics business that was discontinued in 1998.

(3) The ratio of earnings to fixed charges is computed by dividing earnings before fixed charges by
fixed charges. Earnings before fixed charges consist of earnings before income tax, minority
interest and equity in unconsolidated subsidiaries, plus fixed charges. Fixed charges consist of
interest expense, amortization of debt issuance costs and the portion of rental expense that we
believe is representative of the interest component of lease expense.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT�S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Executive Summary

We currently operate in three primary business segments: manufacturing, refurbishment & parts and
leasing & services. These three business segments are operationally integrated. The manufacturing
segment, operating from four facilities in the United States (U.S.), Mexico and Poland, produces
double-stack intermodal railcars, conventional railcars, tank cars and marine vessels. The
refurbishment & parts segment performs railcar repair, refurbishment and maintenance activities in
the United States and Mexico as well as wheel, axle and bearing servicing, and production and
reconditioning of a variety of parts for the railroad industry. The leasing & services segment owns
approximately 9,000 railcars and provides management services for approximately 137,000 railcars
for railroads, shippers, carriers, and other leasing and transportation companies in North America.
Segment performance is evaluated based on margins. We also produce rail castings through an
unconsolidated joint venture.

Our manufacturing backlog of railcars for sale and lease as of August 31, 2008 was approximately
16,200 units with an estimated value of $1.44 billion. This compares to 12,100 units valued at
$830.0 million as of August 31, 2007. Based on current production plans, approximately 3,900 units
in backlog are scheduled for delivery in fiscal year 2009. The current backlog includes approximately
8,500 units that are subject to our fulfillment of certain competitive conditions. A portion of the
orders included in backlog includes an assumed product mix. Under terms of the order, the exact mix
will be determined in the future which may impact the dollar amount of backlog. In addition, a
substantial portion of our backlog consists of orders for tank cars which are a new product type for us
in North America. Marine backlog was approximately $145.0 million as of August 31, 2008, of which
approximately $75.0 million is scheduled for delivery in fiscal year 2009 and the balance through
2012. Subsequent to year end, additional orders were received increasing backlog to approximately
$200.0 million.

Prices for steel, a primary component of railcars and barges, have risen significantly and remain
volatile. In addition the price of certain railcar components, which are a product of steel, are adversely
affected by steel price increases. During fiscal year 2008, both steel and railcar component suppliers
are imposing surcharges, which have also risen significantly and remain volatile. Subsequent to year
end, prices for steel, railcar components and scrap steel have declined but remain volatile. New railcar
and marine backlog generally either includes: 1) fixed price contracts which anticipate material price
increases and surcharges, or 2) contracts that contain actual pass through of material price increases
and surcharges. On certain fixed price railcar contracts actual price increases and surcharges have
caused the total price of the railcar to exceed the amounts originally anticipated, and in some cases,
the actual contractual sale price of the railcar. When the anticipated loss on production of railcars in
backlog is both probable and estimable, we accrue a loss contingency. A loss contingency reserve of
$9.2 million was accrued during fiscal year 2008, of which $7.9 million was remaining in the reserve
as of August 31, 2008. We are aggressively working to mitigate these exposures. The Company�s
integrated business model has helped offset some of the effects of rising steel scrap prices, as a
portion of our other business segments benefit from rising steel scrap prices through enhanced
margins.
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We are aggressively seeking to reduce our selling and administrative and overhead costs, including
reductions in headcount. As a result, during the year $2.0 million was expensed for severance at
several locations, and we continue to pursue additional cost savings. Our cost reduction efforts have
been offset somewhat by costs associated with integration of acquisitions and other strategic
initiatives.

On April 4, 2008 the Company purchased substantially all of the operating assets of Roller Bearing
Industries, Inc. (RBI) for $7.8 million. RBI operates a railcar bearings reconditioning business from
its facility in Elizabethtown, Kentucky. Reconditioned bearings are used in the refurbishment of
railcar wheelsets. The financial results since the acquisition are reported in the Company�s
Consolidated Financial Statements as part of the refurbishment & parts segment.
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On March 28, 2008 the Company acquired substantially all of the operating assets of American Allied
Railway Equipment Company and its affiliates (AARE) for $83.3 million in cash, plus or minus
working capital adjustments. The purchase price was paid from existing cash balances and credit
facilities. We acquired two wheel facilities in Washington, Illinois and Macon, Georgia which supply
new and reconditioned wheelsets to freight car maintenance locations and to new railcar
manufacturing facilities. We also acquired AARE�s parts reconditioning business in Peoria, Illinois,
where we recondition railcar yokes, couplers, side frames and bolsters. The financial results since the
acquisition are reported in the Company�s Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements as part of the
refurbishment & parts segment.

On March 13, 2008, our Canadian railcar manufacturing facility, TrentonWorks Ltd. (TrentonWorks)
filed for bankruptcy with The Office of the Superintendent of Bankruptcy Canada whereby the assets
of TrentonWorks are being administered and liquidated by an appointed trustee. Beginning on
March 13, 2008 the results of TrentonWorks were de-consolidated. The Company has not guaranteed
any obligations of TrentonWorks and does not believe it will be liable for any of TrentonWorks�
liabilities.

Results of Operations

Overview

Total revenue was $1.3 billion, $1.2 billion and $953.8 million for the years ended August 31, 2008,
2007 and 2006. Net earnings for 2008, 2007 and 2006 were $19.5 million or $1.19 per diluted
common share, $22.0 million or $1.37 per diluted common share and $39.6 million or $2.48 per
diluted common share.

Manufacturing Segment

Manufacturing revenue includes new railcar and marine production. New railcar delivery and backlog
information disclosed herein includes all facilities.

Manufacturing revenue was $665.1 million, $738.4 million and $748.8 million for the years 2008,
2007 and 2006. Railcar deliveries, which are the primary source of manufacturing revenue, were
approximately 7,300 units in 2008 compared to 8,600 units in 2007 and 11,400 units in 2006.
Manufacturing revenue decreased $73.3 million, or 10.0%, from 2007 to 2008 due to lower railcar
deliveries primarily due to the current economic slowdown of the North American market.
Manufacturing revenue decreased $10.4 million, or 1.4%, from 2006 to 2007 due to lower railcar
deliveries offset somewhat by a change in product mix to railcar types with higher per unit sales
prices.

Manufacturing margin as a percentage of revenue was 1.7% in 2008 compared to 7.8% in 2007. The
decrease was primarily due to rising steel prices and surcharges, loss contingencies of $7.9 million
accrued on certain future production, $0.5 million of severance, lower production levels and start up
costs and production inefficiencies at our Mexican joint venture facility, partially offset by relief of
certain contractual obligations. Manufacturing margin as a percentage of revenue was 7.8% in 2007
compared to 11.0% in 2006. The decrease was primarily due to a less favorable product mix,
$5.9 million in negative margins on our Canadian facility in 2007, start-up costs on our new railcar
manufacturing joint venture in Mexico and production difficulties and inefficiencies realized on
certain conventional railcar types.
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Refurbishment & Parts Segment

Refurbishment & parts revenue was $527.5 million, $381.7 million and $102.5 million for the years
2008, 2007 and 2006. The $145.8 million increase in revenue from 2007 to 2008 was primarily due to
a full year of revenue from the Meridian Rail acquisition which was completed in November 2006,
$51.6 million of additional revenue related to AARE and RBI acquisitions, strong wheelset volumes
and higher scrap steel prices. The $279.2 million increase in revenue from 2006 to 2007 was
primarily due to acquisition related growth of approximately $249.2 million, increased volume of
refurbishment and retrofitting work at repair and refurbishment facilities and favorable scrap pricing.

Refurbishment & parts margin as a percentage of revenue was 19.2%, 16.8% and 14.4% for 2008,
2007 and 2006. Higher margins in 2008 are a result of the growth of our wheel business, which
includes a full year of Meridian Rail
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and the current year acquisitions of AARE and RBI, higher margin wheel reconditioning work and
the positive impact of higher scrap steel prices. This was partially offset by lower volumes of program
work at the repair facilities. The acquisition of Meridian in 2007 resulted in a greater mix of wheel
reconditioning work which combined with increases in volume of railcar maintenance and
refurbishment programs, retrofitting work and high scrap prices resulted in the margin increase as
compared to 2006.

Leasing & Services Segment

Leasing & services revenue was $97.5 million, $103.7 million and $102.5 million for the years 2008,
2007 and 2006. The $6.2 million decrease in revenue was primarily a result of a $5.4 million decrease
in gains on sale of assets from the lease fleet; lower interim rents on assets held for sale and decreased
interest income from lower cash balances. The decline was partially offset by higher car hire revenue
from additions to the lease fleet and increased maintenance revenue. The $1.2 million increase in
revenue from 2006 to 2007 was primarily the result of a $2.5 million increase in gains on sale of
assets from the lease fleet partially offset by a $1.4 million decrease in interest income resulting from
lower cash balances.

During 2008, we realized $8.0 million in pre-tax earnings on the disposition of leased equipment
compared to $13.4 million in 2007 and $10.9 million in 2006. Assets from our lease fleet are
periodically sold in the normal course of business in order to take advantage of market conditions,
manage risk and maintain liquidity.

Leasing & services margin as a percentage of revenue was 51.0% in 2008 compared to 55.8% in 2007
and 59.0% in 2006. The decrease from 2007 to 2008 was primarily a result of declines in gains on
disposition of assets from the lease fleet, interest income and interim rents on assets held for sale, all
of which have no associated cost of revenue. The decrease from 2006 to 2007 was primarily a result
of declines in interim rent and interest income, decreased utilization on car hire leases, increases in
transportation and storage costs on assets held for sale and higher maintenance costs of the railcar
fleet, partially offset by gains on dispositions from the lease fleet.

Other costs

Selling and administrative expense was $85.1 million, $83.4 million and $70.9 million in 2008, 2007
and 2006. The $1.7 million increase from 2007 to 2008 is primarily due to increased employee costs
including severance of $1.5 million related to reductions in work force, integration costs of recent
acquisitions and costs associated with our Mexican joint venture facility that commenced production
in May 2007, partially offset by the closure of our Canadian facility. The $12.5 million increase from
2006 to 2007 is primarily due to $5.0 million associated with operations of businesses acquired in
2007, $2.3 million in overhead costs associated with our Canadian manufacturing facility that was
permanently closed during May 2007, professional services and consulting fees for strategic
initiatives and integration of acquired companies, costs associated with improvements to our
technology infrastructure and increases in compensation expense related to restricted stock grants.

Interest and foreign exchange expense was $40.8 million, $39.9 million and $25.4 million in 2008,
2007 and 2006. Interest and foreign exchange expense increased $0.9 million from 2007 to 2008
mainly due to foreign exchange fluctuations. Interest expense decreased $0.1 million. Foreign
exchange loss increased $1.0 million from a $1.2 million loss in 2007 to $2.2 million loss in 2008.
Interest and foreign exchange expense increased $14.5 million from 2006 to 2007 due to higher debt
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levels and foreign exchange fluctuations. Foreign exchange losses of $1.2 million were recognized in
2007 compared to foreign exchange gains of $1.6 million in 2006. In addition, 2007 results include a
$1.2 million write-off of loan origination costs on our prior revolving credit facility.

In April 2007, the Company�s board of directors approved the permanent closure of the Company�s
Canadian railcar manufacturing facility, TrentonWorks. As a result of the facility closure decision,
special charges of $2.3 million were recorded during 2008 consisting of severance costs and
professional and other fees.

Special charges of $21.9 million were recorded during 2007 associated with the impairment and
subsequent closure of TrentonWorks. These changes consist of $14.2 million of impairment of
property, plant and equipment, $2.1 million of inventory impairment, $1.1 million impairment of
goodwill and other, $3.9 million of severance costs and $0.6 million of professional and other fees.
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Income Tax

Our effective tax rate was 54.5%, 39.9% and 35.5% for the years ended August 31, 2008, 2007 and
2006. Tax expense for 2008 included a $3.9 million charge associated with deferred tax assets and
operating losses without tax benefit incurred by our Canadian subsidiary during its closure process.
2008 included a $1.3 million increase in valuation allowances related to net operating losses
generated in Poland and Mexico. In addition, a $1.9 million tax benefit resulted from reversing
income tax reserves associated with certain tax positions taken in prior years. Tax expense for 2007
included an $8.2 million tax benefit associated with the write-off of our investment in our Canadian
subsidiary for tax purposes and no tax benefit associated with special charges related to the Canadian
plant closure costs and losses incurred by the Canadian facility. 2007 also included tax benefits of
approximately $1.0 million for Mexican asset based tax credits and amended state income tax
provisions. Tax expense for 2006 included $2.2 million associated with a settlement with the IRS in
conjunction with completion of an audit of our tax returns for the years 1999-2002. In addition, 2006
included a $3.7 million tax benefit for a reduction in a valuation allowance related to a deferred tax
asset for net operating loss carryforwards at our Mexican subsidiary. This allowance was reversed
based on financial projections that indicated we will more likely than not be able to fully utilize the
net operating loss carryforwards.

The fluctuations in the effective tax rate are due to the geographical mix of pre-tax earnings and
losses, minimum tax requirements in certain local jurisdictions and operating losses for certain
operations with no related accrual of tax benefit.

Minority Interest

The minority interest of $3.2 million and $1.5 million for the years ended August 31, 2008 and 2007
represents our joint venture partner�s share in the losses of our Mexican railcar manufacturing joint
venture that began production in 2007.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have been financed through cash generated from operations and borrowings. At August 31, 2008
cash was $6.0 million, a decrease of $14.8 million from $20.8 million at the prior year end. Cash
usage was primarily for the acquisitions of AARE and RBI and capital expenditures, partially offset
by proceeds from borrowings.

Cash provided by operating activities for the years ended August 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was
$32.1 million, $46.3 million and $39.5 million. The change was primarily due to timing of working
capital needs including purchases and sales of railcars held for sale, timing of inventory purchases
and varying customer payment terms.

Cash used in investing activities for the year ended August 31, 2008 of $152.2 million compared to
$286.6 million in 2007 and $111.1 million in 2006. Cash utilization in 2008 was primarily due to the
acquisitions of AARE and RBI and capital expenditures for the year. The increased cash utilization
for 2007 was primarily due to the acquisitions of Meridian Rail Holdings Corp. (Meridian) and Rail
Car America (RCA).

Capital expenditures totaled $77.6 million, $137.3 million and $140.6 million in 2008, 2007 and
2006. Of these capital expenditures, approximately $45.9 million, $111.9 million and $122.6 million
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in 2008, 2007 and 2006 were attributable to leasing & services operations. Our capital expenditures
have decreased based on current market conditions and fleet management objectives. We regularly
sell assets from our lease fleet, some of which may have been purchased within the current year and
included in capital expenditures. Proceeds from the sale of equipment were approximately
$14.6 million, $119.7 million and $28.9 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006. Leasing & services capital
expenditures for 2009, net of proceeds from sales of equipment, are expected to be approximately
$20.0 million.

Approximately $24.1 million, $20.4 million and $15.1 million of capital expenditures for 2008, 2007
and 2006 were attributable to manufacturing operations. Capital expenditures for manufacturing are
expected to be approximately $10.0 million in 2009 and primarily relate to increased efficiency, start
up of our tank car line at the Mexican joint venture, ERP implementation and maintenance of existing
equipment.
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Refurbishment & parts capital expenditures for 2008, 2007 and 2006 were $7.6 million, $5.0 million
and $2.9 million and are expected to be approximately $10.0 million in 2009 for maintenance of
existing facilities, ERP implementation and some expansion.

Cash provided by financing activities was $103.5 million for the year ended August 31 2008,
compared to cash provided by financing activities of $115.8 million in 2007 and $142.5 million in
2006. During 2008, we received $49.6 million in net proceeds from term loan borrowings and
$55.5 million in net proceeds under revolving credit lines. We repaid $6.9 million in term debt and
paid dividends of $5.3 million. During 2007, we received $99.4 million in net proceeds from term
loan borrowings, repaid $5.4 million in term debt and paid dividends of $5.1 million. During 2006,
we received an aggregate of $154.6 million in net proceeds from a senior unsecured debt offering and
a convertible debt offering, repaid $13.2 million in term debt and paid dividends of $5.0 million.

All amounts originating in foreign currency have been translated at the August 31, 2008 exchange
rate for the following discussion. Senior secured revolving credit facilities, consisting of two
components, aggregated $335.2 million as of August 31, 2008. A $290.0 million revolving line of
credit is available through November 2011 to provide working capital and interim financing of
equipment, principally for the U.S. and Mexican operations. Advances under this facility bear interest
at variable rates that depend on the type of borrowing and the defined ratio of debt to total
capitalization. In addition, lines of credit totaling $45.2 million, with various variable rates, are
available for working capital needs of the European manufacturing operation. As of August 31, 2008
these European credit facilities have maturities that range from November 30, 2008 through
August 31, 2009. Approximately 50% of available borrowings for the European credit facilities have
maturity dates in the second half of fiscal year 2009. European credit facility renewals are continually
under negotiation and we currently anticipate $4.4 million to be repaid rather than renewed.

As of August 31, 2008 outstanding borrowings under these facilities aggregated $105.8 million in
revolving notes and $3.7 million in letters of credit. This consists of $65.0 million in revolving notes
and $3.7 million in letters of credit outstanding under the U.S. credit facility and $40.8 million in
revolving notes under the European credit facilities. Available borrowings under credit facilities are
generally based on defined levels of inventory, receivables, and leased equipment, as well as total
debt to consolidated capitalization and interest coverage ratios which as of August 31, 2008 levels
would provide for maximum additional borrowing of $174.3 million.

The revolving and operating lines of credit, along with notes payable, contain covenants with respect
to the Company and various subsidiaries, the most restrictive of which, among other things, limit the
ability to: incur additional indebtedness or guarantees; pay dividends or repurchase stock; enter into
sale leaseback transactions; create liens; sell assets; engage in transactions with affiliates, including
joint ventures and non U.S. subsidiaries, including but not limited to loans, advances, equity
investments and guarantees; enter into mergers, consolidations or sales of substantially all the
Company�s assets; and enter into new lines of business. The covenants also require certain minimum
levels of tangible net worth, maximum ratios of debt to equity or total capitalization and minimum
levels of interest coverage. Currently we are seeking a line of credit to support certain of our foreign
operations due in part to current limitations in our existing loan covenants.

In accordance with customary business practices in Europe, we have $17.9 million in bank and third
party performance, advance payment and warranty guarantee facilities, all of which have been
utilized as of August 31, 2008. To date no amounts have been drawn under these performance,
advance payment and warranty guarantees.
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We have advanced $0.6 million in long-term advances to an unconsolidated subsidiary which are
secured by accounts receivable and inventory. As of August 31, 2008, this same unconsolidated
subsidiary had $4.7 million in third party debt for which we have guaranteed 33% or approximately
$1.6 million.

We have outstanding letters of credit aggregating $3.7 million associated with facility leases and
payroll.

Foreign operations give rise to risks from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We utilize
foreign currency forward exchange contracts with established financial institutions to hedge a portion
of that risk. No provision has been made for credit loss due to counterparty non-performance.
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Dividends have been paid each quarter since the 4th quarter of 2004 when dividends of $.06 per share
were reinstated. The dividend was increased to $.08 per share in the 4th quarter of 2005.

We expect existing funds and cash generated from operations, together with proceeds from financing
activities including borrowings under existing credit facilities and long-term financing, to be
sufficient to fund dividends, working capital needs, planned capital expenditures and expected debt
repayments for the foreseeable future.

The following table shows our estimated future contractual cash obligations as of August 31, 2008:

Year Ending
(In thousands) Total 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter
Notes payable $ 496,008 $ 11,025 $ 8,749 $ 6,622 $ 4,176 $ 4,061 $ 461,375
Interest 212,203 28,299 27,839 27,368 27,122 26,946 74,629
Revolving notes 105,808 40,808 � � 65,000 � �
Operating leases 23,918 8,456 6,421 5,014 2,574 814 639
Participation 2,567 580 586 523 381 359 138
Purchase commitments 10,838 10,838 � � � � �
Railcar leases 25,380 8,736 7,510 5,150 3,239 377 368

$ 876,722 $ 108,742 $ 51,105 $ 44,677 $ 102,492 $ 32,557 $ 537,149

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not currently have off balance sheet arrangements that have or are likely to have a material
current or future effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States requires judgment on the part of management to arrive at estimates and
assumptions on matters that are inherently uncertain. These estimates may affect the amount of assets,
liabilities, revenue and expenses reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities within the financial statements. Estimates and
assumptions are periodically evaluated and may be adjusted in future periods. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Income taxes - For financial reporting purposes, income tax expense is estimated based on planned
tax return filings. The amounts anticipated to be reported in those filings may change between the
time the financial statements are prepared and the time the tax returns are filed. Further, because tax
filings are subject to review by taxing authorities, there is also the risk that a position taken in
preparation of a tax return may be challenged by a taxing authority. If the taxing authority is
successful in asserting a position different than that taken by us, differences in tax expense or between
current and deferred tax items may arise in future periods. Such differences, which could have a
material impact on our financial statements, would be reflected in the financial statements when
management considers them probable of occurring and the amount reasonably estimable. Valuation
allowances reduce deferred tax assets to an amount that will more likely than not be realized. Our
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estimates of the realization of deferred tax assets is based on the information available at the time the
financial statements are prepared and may include estimates of future income and other assumptions
that are inherently uncertain.

Maintenance obligations - We are responsible for maintenance on a portion of the managed and
owned lease fleet under the terms of maintenance obligations defined in the underlying lease or
management agreement. The estimated maintenance liability is based on maintenance histories for
each type and age of railcar. These estimates involve judgment as to the future costs of repairs and the
types and timing of repairs required over the lease term. As we cannot predict with certainty the
prices, timing and volume of maintenance needed in the future on railcars under long-term leases, this
estimate is uncertain and could be materially different from maintenance requirements. The liability is
periodically reviewed and updated based on maintenance trends and known future repair or

 28 The Greenbrier Companies 2008 Annual Report

Edgar Filing: NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 51



Table of Contents

refurbishment requirements. These adjustments could be material due to the inability to predict future
maintenance requirements.

Warranty accruals - Warranty costs to cover a defined warranty period are estimated and charged to
operations. The estimated warranty cost is based on historical warranty claims for each particular
product type. For new product types without a warranty history, preliminary estimates are based on
historical information for similar product types.

These estimates are inherently uncertain as they are based on historical data for existing products and
judgment for new products. If warranty claims are made in the current period for issues that have not
historically been the subject of warranty claims and were not taken into consideration in establishing
the accrual or if claims for issues already considered in establishing the accrual exceed expectations,
warranty expense may exceed the accrual for that particular product. Conversely, there is the
possibility that claims may be lower than estimates. The warranty accrual is periodically reviewed
and updated based on warranty trends. However, as we cannot predict future claims, the potential
exists for the difference in any one reporting period to be material.

Revenue recognition - Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the price is fixed or determinable and
collectibility is reasonably assured.

Railcars are generally manufactured, repaired or refurbished under firm orders from third parties.
Revenue is recognized when railcars are completed, accepted by an unaffiliated customer and
contractual contingencies removed. Direct finance lease revenue is recognized over the lease term in a
manner that produces a constant rate of return on the net investment in the lease. Operating lease
revenue is recognized as earned under the lease terms. Certain leases are operated under car hire
arrangements whereby revenue is earned based on utilization, car hire rates and terms specified in the
lease agreement. Car hire revenue is reported from a third party source two months in arrears;
however, such revenue is accrued in the month earned based on estimates of use from historical
activity and is adjusted to actual as reported. These estimates are inherently uncertain as they involve
judgment as to the estimated use of each railcar. Adjustments to actual have historically not been
significant. Revenues from construction of marine barges are either recognized on the percentage of
completion method during the construction period or on the completed contract method based on the
terms of the contract. Under the percentage of completion method, judgment is used to determine a
definitive threshold against which progress towards completion can be measured to determine timing
of revenue recognition.

Impairment of long-lived assets - When changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of
certain long-lived assets may not be recoverable, the assets are evaluated for impairment. If the
forecast undiscounted future cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the assets, an impairment
charge to reduce the carrying value of the assets to fair value is recognized in the current period.
These estimates are based on the best information available at the time of the impairment and could
be materially different if circumstances change.

Goodwill and acquired intangible assets - The Company periodically acquires businesses in purchase
transactions in which the allocation of the purchase price may result in the recognition of goodwill
and other intangible assets. The determination of the value of such intangible assets requires
management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates affect the amount of future period
amortization and possible impairment charges.
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Loss contingencies - On certain fixed price railcar contracts actual price increases and surcharges may
cause the total cost to produce the railcar to exceed the amounts originally anticipated, and in some
cases, the actual contractual sale price of the railcar. When the anticipated loss on production of
railcars in backlog is both probable and estimable the Company will accrue a loss contingency. These
estimates are based on the best information available at the time of the accrual and are adjusted at a
later date to reflect actual costs.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Initial Adoption of Accounting Policies - In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued interpretation (FIN) No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainties in Income Tax � an
Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109. This interpretation clarifies the accounting for
uncertainties in income tax provisions. The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on
September 1, 2007. At the adoption date, the Company identified certain tax
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benefits taken for which a reserve for uncertain tax positions was required under FIN 48. The total
amount of this reserve, including interest and penalties, is $12.0 million, of which $8.9 million is
associated with purchase accounting adjustments on the acquisition of Meridian Rail Holdings Corp.
These amounts had previously been reserved under Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
(SFAS) No. 5 with the exception of $0.1 million which was recorded as an adjustment to retained
earnings in the three months ended November 30, 2007. The Company recorded additional interest
expense of $1.0 million relating to reserves for uncertain tax provisions during the fiscal year 2008.
Interest and penalties related to income taxes are not classified as a component of income tax
expense. When unrecognized tax benefits are realized, the benefit related to deductible differences
attributable to ordinary operations will be recognized as a reduction of income tax expense. The
benefit related to deductible differences attributable to purchase accounting may result in a reduction
to goodwill. Within the next 12 months the Company reasonably expects a decrease of approximately
$10.1 million in the current FIN 48 reserve, with a corresponding reduction in income tax expense of
$1.4 million, goodwill of $7.4 million and selling and administrative expenses of $1.3 million.

Prospective Accounting Changes - In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value
Measurements. This statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value
and enhances disclosures about fair value measurements. The measurement and disclosure
requirements are effective for the Company for the fiscal year beginning September 1, 2008. In
January 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) FAS 157-2 to defer SFAS No. 157�s
effective date for all non-financial assets and liabilities, except those items recognized or disclosed at
fair value on an annual or more frequently recurring basis. In October 2008, the FASB issued FSP
FAS 157-3, Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the Market for That Asset is Not
Active. This FSP provides examples to illustrate key considerations in determining fair value of a
financial asset when the market for that financial asset is not active. This position is effective for the
Company beginning September 1, 2009. Management is evaluating whether there will be any impact
on the Consolidated Financial Statements from the adoption of SFAS No. 157.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities which is effective for the Company beginning September 1, 2008.
SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value rather than historical value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value
option is elected are reported in earnings. Management does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 159
to have a material impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, Business Combinations. This statement
establishes the principles and requirements for how an acquirer: recognizes and measures the assets
acquired, liabilities assumed, and non-controlling interest; recognizes and measures goodwill; and
identifies disclosures. This statement is effective for the Company for business combinations entered
into on or after September 1, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated
Financial Statements � an amendment of ARB No. 51. This statement establishes reporting standards
for non-controlling interests in subsidiaries. This standard is effective for the Company beginning
September 1, 2009. Management is evaluating the impact of this statement on its Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities � an amendment of SFAS No. 133. This statement requires enhanced disclosures
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about an entity�s derivative instruments and hedging. This statement is effective for the Company
beginning September 1, 2008. Management does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 161 to have an
impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued FSP APB 14-1, Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That
May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlement). This FSP specifies that
issuers of such instruments should separately account for the liability and equity components in a
manner that will reflect the entity�s nonconvertible debt borrowing rate when interest cost is
recognized in subsequent periods. This FSP is effective for the Company beginning September 1,
2009. Management is currently evaluating the impact of this FSP on its Consolidated Financial
Statements.

 30 The Greenbrier Companies 2008 Annual Report

Edgar Filing: NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 55



Table of Contents

Item 7a.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We have operations in Mexico, Germany and Poland that conduct business in their local currencies as
well as other regional currencies. To mitigate the exposure to transactions denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of each entity, we enter into foreign currency forward exchange
contracts to protect the margin on a portion of forecast foreign currency sales. At August 31, 2008,
$68.0 million of forecast sales were hedged by foreign exchange contracts. Because of the variety of
currencies in which purchases and sales are transacted and the interaction between currency rates, it is
not possible to predict the impact a movement in a single foreign currency exchange rate would have
on future operating results. We believe the exposure to foreign exchange risk is not material.

In addition to exposure to transaction gains or losses, we are also exposed to foreign currency
exchange risk related to the net asset position of our foreign subsidiaries. At August 31, 2008, net
assets of foreign subsidiaries aggregated $17.8 million and a 10% strengthening of the United States
dollar relative to the foreign currencies would result in a decrease in stockholders� equity of
$1.8 million, 0.7% of total stockholders� equity. This calculation assumes that each exchange rate
would change in the same direction relative to the United States dollar.

Interest Rate Risk

We have managed a portion of our floating rate debt with interest rate swap agreements, effectively
converting $8.4 million of variable rate debt to fixed rate debt. At August 31, 2008, the exposure to
interest rate risk is reduced since 58% of our debt has fixed rates and 42% has floating rates. As a
result, we are exposed to interest rate risk relating to our revolving debt and a portion of term debt. At
August 31, 2008, a uniform 10% increase in interest rates would result in approximately $1.1 million
of additional annual interest expense.
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Item 8.    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Consolidated Balance Sheets

YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31,
(In thousands) 2008 2007
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,957 $ 20,808
Restricted cash 1,231 2,693
Accounts receivable 181,857 157,038
Inventories 252,048 194,883
Assets held for sale 52,363 42,903
Equipment on operating leases 319,321 294,326
Investment in direct finance leases 8,468 9,040
Property, plant and equipment 136,506 112,813
Goodwill 200,148 168,987
Intangibles and other assets 99,061 69,258

$  1,256,960 $  1,072,749

Liabilities and Stockholders� Equity
Revolving notes $ 105,808 $ 39,568
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 274,322 244,068
Losses in excess of investment in de-consolidated subsidiary 15,313 �
Deferred income taxes 74,329 61,410
Deferred revenue 22,035 18,052
Notes payable 496,008 460,915

Minority interest 8,618 5,146
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 26 & 27)

Stockholders� equity:
Preferred stock - without par value; 25,000 shares authorized;
none outstanding � �
Common stock - without par value; 50,000 shares
authorized; 16,606 and 16,169 outstanding at August 31,
2008 and 2007 17 16
Additional paid-in capital 82,262 78,332
Retained earnings 179,553 165,408
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,305) (166)

260,527 243,590

$ 1,256,960 $ 1,072,749

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31,
(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2008 2007 2006
Revenue
Manufacturing $ 665,093 $ 738,424 $  748,818
Refurbishment & parts 527,466 381,670 102,471
Leasing & services 97,520 103,734 102,534

1,290,079 1,223,828 953,823
Cost of revenue
Manufacturing 653,879 680,908 666,731
Refurbishment & parts 426,183 317,669 87,690
Leasing & services 47,774 45,818 42,023

 1,127,836  1,044,395 796,444
Margin 162,243 179,433 157,379
Other costs
Selling and administrative 85,133 83,414 70,918
Interest and foreign exchange 40,770 39,915 25,396
Special charges 2,302 21,899 �

128,205 145,228 96,314
Earnings before income tax, minority interest and
equity in unconsolidated subsidiaries 34,038 34,205 61,065
Income tax expense (18,550) (13,657) (21,698)

Earnings before minority interest and equity in
unconsolidated subsidiaries 15,488 20,548 39,367
Minority interest 3,182 1,504 �
Equity in earnings (loss) of unconsolidated
subsidiaries 872 (42) 169

Earnings from continuing operations 19,542 22,010 39,536
Earnings from discontinued operations (net of tax) � � 62

Net earnings $ 19,542 $ 22,010 $ 39,598

Basic earnings per common share:
Continuing operations $ 1.19 $ 1.37 $ 2.51
Discontinued operations � � �

$ 1.19 $ 1.37 $ 2.51

Diluted earnings per common share:
Continuing operations $ 1.19 $ 1.37 $ 2.48
Discontinued operations � � �
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$ 1.19 $ 1.37 $ 2.48

Weighted average common shares:
Basic 16,395 16,056 15,751
Diluted 16,417 16,094 15,937

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders� Equity
and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated
Additional Other Total

Common Stock Paid-in Retained ComprehensiveStockholders�

(In thousands) Shares Amount Capital Earnings
Income
(Loss) Equity

Balance September 1,
2005 15,479 $ 15 $ 62,768 $ 113,987 $ (711) $ 176,059
Net earnings � � � 39,598 � 39,598
Translation adjustment
(net of tax effect) � � � � 1,570 1,570
Reclassification of
derivative financial
instruments recognized
in net earnings (net of
tax effect) � � � � (2,566) (2,566)
Unrealized gain on
derivative financial
instruments (net of tax
effect) � � � � 1,306 1,306

Comprehensive income 39,908
Cash dividends ($0.32
per share) � � � (5,043) � (5,043)
Restricted stock awards 72 � 2,179 � � 2,179
Unamortized restricted
stock � � (1,914) � � (1,914)
Restricted stock
amortization � � 2,550 � � 2,550
Stock options exercised 403 1 2,941 � � 2,942
Excess tax benefit of
stock options exercised � � 2,600 � � 2,600

Balance August 31,
2006 15,954 16 71,124 148,542 (401) 219,281
Net earnings � � � 22,010 � 22,010
Translation adjustment
(net of tax effect) � � � � 771 771
Reclassification of
derivative financial
instruments recognized
in net earnings (net of
tax effect) � � � � (521) (521)
Unrealized gain on
derivative financial
instruments (net of tax

� � � � 301 301
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Comprehensive income 22,561
Adjustment to apply
SFAS 158 (net of tax
effect) � � � � (316) (316)
Cash dividends ($0.32
per share) � � � (5,144) � (5,144)
Restricted stock awards 182 � 4,009 � � 4,009
Unamortized restricted
stock � � (4,009) � � (4,009)
Restricted stock
amortization � � 3,285 � � 3,285
Stock options exercised 33 � 204 � � 204
Excess tax benefit of
stock options exercised � � 3,719 � � 3,719

Balance August 31,
2007 16,169 16 78,332 165,408 (166) 243,590
Net earnings � � � 19,542 � 19,542
Translation adjustment
(net of tax effect) � � � � 4,852 4,852
Pension plan adjustment � � � � (6,873) (6,873)
Reclassification of
derivative financial
instruments recognized
in net earnings (net of
tax effect) � � � � (94) (94)
Unrealized gain on
derivative financial
instruments (net of tax
effect) � � � � 905 905

Comprehensive income 18,332
Adjustment to apply
SFAS 158 (net of tax
effect) � � 71 71
Cash dividends ($0.32
per share) � � � (5,261) � (5,261)
FIN 48 adjustment (136) (136)
Restricted stock awards
(net of cancellations) 432 1 9,473 � � 9,474
Unamortized restricted
stock � � (9,442) � � (9,442)
Restricted stock
amortization � � 3,932 � � 3,932
Stock options exercised 5 � 43 � � 43
Excess tax benefit of
stock options exercised � � (76) � � (76)

16,606 $ 17 $  82,262 $  179,553 $  (1,305) $  260,527
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Balance August 31,
2008

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31,

(In thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings $ 19,542 $ 22,010 $ 39,598
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Earnings from discontinued operations � � (62)
Deferred income taxes 12,919 10,643 5,893
Depreciation and amortization 35,086 32,826 25,253
Gain on sales of equipment (8,010) (13,400) (10,948)
Special charges 2,302 21,899 �
Minority interest (3,128) (1,604) �
Other 336 205 278
Decrease (increase) in assets excluding acquisitions:
Accounts receivable (7,621) (17,883) 8,948
Inventories (29,692) 14,260 (37,517)
Assets held for sale (10,621) 4,378 156
Other (2,700) (411) 2,577
Increase (decrease) in liabilities excluding
acquisitions:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 21,801 (24,600) (4,960)
Deferred revenue 1,904 (1,996) 10,326

Net cash provided by operating activities 32,118 46,327 39,542

Cash flows from investing activities:
Principal payments received under direct finance
leases 375 511 2,048
Proceeds from sales of equipment 14,598 119,695 28,863
Investment in and net advances to unconsolidated
subsidiaries 858 (849) 550
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (91,166) (268,184) �
De-consolidation of subsidiary (1,217) � �
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash 2,046 (454) (1,958)
Capital expenditures (77,644) (137,294) (140,569)

Net cash used in investing activities  (152,150)  (286,575)  (111,066)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Changes in revolving notes 55,514 15,007 8,965
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable 49,613 99,441 154,567
Repayments of notes payable (6,919) (5,388) (13,191)
Repayment of subordinated debt � (2,091) (6,526)
Investment by joint venture partner 6,600 6,750 �
Dividends paid (5,261) (5,144) (5,042)
Stock options and restricted stock awards exercised 4,007 3,489 5,757
Excess tax benefit of stock options exercised (76) 3,719 2,600

Edgar Filing: NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 64



Purchase of subsidiary�s shares subject to mandatory
redemption � � (4,636)

Net cash provided by financing activities 103,478 115,783 142,494

Effect of exchange rate changes 1,703 2,379 (1,280)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (14,851) (122,086) 69,690
Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of period 20,808 142,894 73,204

End of period $ 5,957 $ 20,808 $ 142,894

Cash paid during the period for:

Interest $ 35,274 $ 33,714 $ 24,406
Income taxes $ 3,620 $ 2,985 $ 21,256
Non-cash activity
Transfer of railcars held for sale to equipment on
operating leases $ 6,441 $ � $ 23,955
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activity:
Assumption of acquisition capital lease obligation $ 498 $ 229 $ �
Seller receivable netted against acquisition note $ 503 $ � $ �
De-consolidation of subsidiary (see note 6) $ 15,313 $ � $ �
Supplemental disclosure of subsidiary acquired
Assets acquired $ (96,782) $ (330,459) $ �
Liabilities assumed 5,616 56,144 �
Acquisition note payable � 3,000 �
Cash acquired � 3,131 �

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired $ (91,166) $ (268,184) $ �

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 - Nature of Operations

The Greenbrier Companies, Inc. and its subsidiaries (Greenbrier or the Company) currently operate in
three primary business segments: manufacturing, refurbishment & parts and leasing & services. The
three business segments are operationally integrated. With operations in the United States, Mexico
and Poland, the manufacturing segment produces double-stack intermodal railcars, conventional
railcars, tank cars and marine vessels. The refurbishment & parts segment performs railcar repair,
refurbishment and maintenance activities in the United States and Mexico as well as wheel and axle
servicing and production of a variety of parts for the railroad industry. The leasing & services
segment owns approximately 9,000 railcars and provides management services for approximately
137,000 railcars for railroads, shippers, carriers and other leasing and transportation companies in
North America. Greenbrier also produces railcar castings through an unconsolidated joint venture.

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of consolidation - The financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its
subsidiaries in which it has a controlling interest. All intercompany transactions and balances are
eliminated upon consolidation.

Unclassified Balance Sheet - The balance sheets of the Company are presented in an unclassified
format as a result of significant leasing activities for which the current or non-current distinction is
not relevant. In addition, the activities of the manufacturing, refurbishment & parts and leasing &
services segments are so intertwined that in the opinion of management, any attempt to separate the
respective balance sheet categories would not be meaningful and may lead to the development of
misleading conclusions by the reader.

Foreign currency translation - Operations outside the United States prepare financial statements in
currencies other than the United States dollar. Revenues and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the year, while assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates.
Translation adjustments are accumulated as a separate component of stockholders� equity in other
comprehensive income (loss), net of tax.

Cash and cash equivalents - Cash is temporarily invested primarily in bankers� acceptances, United
States Treasury bills, commercial paper and money market funds. All highly-liquid investments with
a maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition are considered cash equivalents.

Restricted cash - Restricted cash is primarily cash assigned as collateral for European performance
guarantees.

Accounts receivable - Accounts receivable are stated net of allowance for doubtful accounts of
$5.6 million and $3.9 million as of August 31, 2008 and 2007.

Inventories - Inventories are generally valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market.
Work-in-process includes material, labor and overhead.

Assets held for sale - Assets held for sale consist of new railcars in transit to delivery point, railcars
on lease with the intent to sell, used railcars that will either be sold or refurbished or placed on lease
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and then sold, finished goods and completed wheel sets.

Equipment on operating leases - Equipment on operating leases is stated at cost. Depreciation to
estimated salvage value is provided on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of up
to thirty-five years.

 36 The Greenbrier Companies 2008 Annual Report

Edgar Filing: NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 67



Table of Contents

Property, plant and equipment - Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation is
provided on the straight-line method over estimated useful lives which are as follows:

Depreciable Life

Buildings and improvements 10-25 years
Machinery and equipment 3- 15 years
Other 3-7 years

Goodwill - Goodwill is recorded when the purchase price of an acquisition exceeds the fair market
value of the assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortized and is tested for impairment at least annually
and more frequently if material changes in events or circumstances arise. This testing compares
carrying values to fair values and if the carrying value of these assets is in excess of fair value, the
carrying value is reduced to fair value. Goodwill was tested as of February 29, 2008 and the Company
concluded that goodwill was not impaired.

Intangible and other assets - Intangible assets are recorded when a portion of the purchase price of an
acquisition is allocated to assets such as customer contracts and relationships, trade names,
certifications and backlog. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized using the straight line
method over their estimated useful lives and include the following: proprietary technology, 25 years;
trade names, 5 years; patents, 11 years; and long-term customer agreements, 5 to 20 years. Other
assets include loan fees and debt acquisition costs which are capitalized and amortized as interest
expense over the life of the related borrowings. The following table summarizes the Company�s
identifiable intangible assets balance by segment:

Refurbishment
& Leasing &

(In thousands) Manufacturing Parts Services Total
Customer relationships $ � $ 61,047 $ 383 $ 61,430
Proprietary technology 2,230 � � 2,230
Trade name � 535 � 535
Patents 102 � � 102
Other intangibles 75 1,946 � 2,021
Prepaid and other assets 15,975 3,366 13,402 32,743

Balance August 31, 2008 $  18,382 $  66,894 $  13,785 $  99,061

Impairment of long-lived assets - When changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of
certain long-lived assets may not be recoverable, the assets are evaluated for impairment. If the
forecast undiscounted future cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the assets, an impairment
charge to reduce the carrying value of the assets to estimated realizable value is recognized in the
current period. No impairment was recorded in the current fiscal year.

Maintenance obligations - The Company is responsible for maintenance on a portion of the managed
and owned lease fleet under the terms of maintenance obligations defined in the underlying lease or
management agreement. The estimated liability is based on maintenance histories for each type and
age of railcar. The liability, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, is reviewed
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periodically and updated based on maintenance trends and known future repair or refurbishment
requirements.

Warranty accruals - Warranty costs are estimated and charged to operations to cover a defined
warranty period. The estimated warranty cost is based on history of warranty claims for each
particular product type. For new product types without a warranty history, preliminary estimates are
based on historical information for similar product types. The warranty accruals, included in accounts
payable and accrued liabilities, are reviewed periodically and updated based on warranty trends.

Contingent rental assistance - The Company has entered into contingent rental assistance agreements
on certain railcars, subject to leases, that have been sold to third parties. These agreements guarantee
the purchasers a minimum lease rental, subject to a maximum defined rental assistance amount, over
remaining periods of up to five years. A liability is established when management believes that it is
probable that a rental shortfall will occur and the amount can be estimated. All existing rental
assistance agreements were entered into prior to December 31, 2002.
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Any future contracts would use the guidance required by Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) Interpretation (FIN) 45.

Income taxes - The liability method is used to account for income taxes. Deferred income taxes are
provided for the temporary effects of differences between assets and liabilities recognized for
financial statement and income tax reporting purposes. Valuation allowances reduce deferred tax
assets to an amount that will more likely than not be realized. The Company also provides for income
tax contingencies when management considers them probable of occurring and reasonably estimable.
As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, we recognize liabilities for uncertain tax positions based
on whether evidence indicates that is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit.
It is inherently difficult and subjective to estimate such amounts, as this requires us to determine the
probability of various possible outcomes. We reevaluate these uncertain tax positions on a quarterly
basis. Changes in assumptions may result in the recognition of a tax benefit or an additional charge to
the tax provision.

Minority interest - In October 2006, the Company formed a joint venture with Grupo Industrial
Monclova, S.A.. (GIMSA) to manufacture new railroad freight cars for the North American
marketplace at GIMSA�s existing manufacturing facility located in Frontera, Mexico. Each party owns
a 50% interest in the joint venture. Production began late in the Company�s third quarter of 2007. The
financial results of this operation are consolidated for financial reporting purposes as the Company
maintains a controlling interest as evidenced by the right to appoint the majority of the board of
directors, control over accounting, financing, marketing and engineering, and approval and design of
products. The minority interest reflected in the Company�s consolidated financial statements
represents the joint venture partner�s equity in this venture.

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) - Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
represents net earnings (loss) plus all other changes in net assets from non-owner sources.

Revenue recognition - Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the price is fixed or determinable and
collectibility is reasonably assured.

Railcars are generally manufactured, repaired or refurbished under firm orders from third parties.
Revenue is recognized when new or refurbished railcars are completed, accepted by an unaffiliated
customer and contractual contingencies removed. Marine revenues are either recognized on the
percentage of completion method during the construction period or on the completed contract method
based on the terms of the contract. Direct finance lease revenue is recognized over the lease term in a
manner that produces a constant rate of return on the net investment in the lease. Operating lease
revenue is recognized as earned under the lease terms. Certain leases are operated under car hire
arrangements whereby revenue is earned based on utilization, car hire rates and terms specified in the
lease agreement. Car hire revenue is reported from a third party source two months in arrears;
however, such revenue is accrued in the month earned based on estimates of use from historical
activity and is adjusted to actual as reported. Such adjustments historically have not been significant
from the estimate.

Research and development - Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and
development costs incurred for new product development during 2008, 2007 and 2006 were
$2.9 million, $2.4 million and $2.2 million.
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Forward exchange contracts - Foreign operations give rise to risks from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. Forward exchange contracts with established financial institutions are utilized to
hedge a portion of such risk. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are deferred in other
comprehensive income (loss) and recognized in earnings concurrent with the hedged transaction or
when the occurrence of the hedged transaction is no longer considered probable. Even though forward
exchange contracts are entered into to mitigate the impact of currency fluctuations, certain exposure
remains, which may affect operating results. In addition, there is risk for counterparty
non-performance.

Interest rate instruments - Interest rate swap agreements are utilized to reduce the impact of changes
in interest rates on certain debt. The net cash amounts paid or received under the agreements are
accrued and recognized as an adjustment to interest expense.
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Net earnings per share - Basic earnings per common share (EPS) excludes the potential dilution that
would occur if additional shares were issued upon exercise of outstanding stock options, while diluted
EPS takes this potential dilution into account using the treasury stock method.

Stock-based compensation - All stock options were vested prior to September 1, 2005 and
accordingly no compensation expense was recognized for stock options for the years ended
August 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. The value, at the date of grant, of stock awarded under restricted
stock grants is amortized as compensation expense over the vesting period of two to five years.
Compensation expense recognized related to restricted stock grants for 2008, 2007 and 2006 was
$3.9 million, $3.1 million and $2.7 million.

Management estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States requires judgment on the part of management to
arrive at estimates and assumptions on matters that are inherently uncertain. These estimates may
affect the amount of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities within the financial statements.
Estimates and assumptions are periodically evaluated and may be adjusted in future periods. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications - Certain reclassifications have been made to prior years� Consolidated Financial
Statements to conform to the 2008 presentation. These reclassifications consist of the inclusion of
participation into the accounts payable line on the Balance Sheet, the participation balance as of
August 31, 2008 and 2007 was $1.0 million and $4.4 million, and the break-out of minority interest to
a separate line on the Statement of Cash Flows.

Initial Adoption of Accounting Policies - In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued interpretation (FIN) No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainties in Income Tax - an
Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109. This interpretation clarifies the accounting for
uncertainties in income tax provisions. The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on
September 1, 2007. At the adoption date, the Company identified certain tax benefits taken for which
a reserve for uncertain tax positions was required under FIN 48. The total amount of this reserve,
including interest and penalties, is $12.0 million, of which $8.9 million is associated with purchase
accounting adjustments on the acquisition of Meridian Rail Holdings Corp. These amounts had
previously been reserved under Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 5 with the
exception of $0.1 million which was recorded as an adjustment to retained earnings in the three
months ended November 30, 2007. The Company recorded additional interest expense of $1.0 million
relating to reserves for uncertain tax provisions during the fiscal year 2008. Interest and penalties
related to income taxes are not classified as a component of income tax expense. When unrecognized
tax benefits are realized, the benefit related to deductible differences attributable to ordinary
operations will be recognized as a reduction of income tax expense. The benefit related to deductible
differences attributable to purchase accounting may result in a reduction to goodwill. Within the next
12 months the Company reasonably expects a decrease of approximately $10.1 million in the current
FIN 48 reserve, with a corresponding reduction in income tax expense of $1.4 million, goodwill of
$7.4 million and selling and administrative expenses of $1.3 million.

Prospective Accounting Changes - In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value
Measurements. This statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value
and enhances disclosures about fair value measurements. The measurement and disclosure
requirements are effective for the Company for the fiscal year beginning September 1, 2008. In
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January 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) FAS 157-2 to defer SFAS No. 157�s
effective date for all non-financial assets and liabilities, except those items recognized or disclosed at
fair value on an annual or more frequently recurring basis. In October 2008, the FASB issued FSP
FAS 157-3, Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the Market for That Asset is Not
Active. This FSP provides examples to illustrate key considerations in determining fair value of a
financial asset when the market for that financial asset is not active. This position is effective for the
Company beginning September 1, 2009. Management is evaluating whether there will be any impact
on the Consolidated Financial Statements from the adoption of SFAS No. 157.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities which is effective for the Company beginning September 1, 2008.
SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value rather than historical value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value
option is elected are reported in earnings.
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Management does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 159 to have a material impact on its
Consolidated Financial Statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, Business Combinations. This statement
establishes the principles and requirements for how an acquirer: recognizes and measures the assets
acquired, liabilities assumed, and non-controlling interest; recognizes and measures goodwill; and
identifies disclosures. This statement is effective for the Company for business combinations entered
into on or after September 1, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated
Financial Statements - an amendment of ARB No. 51. This statement establishes reporting standards
for non-controlling interests in subsidiaries. This standard is effective for the Company beginning
September 1, 2009. Management is evaluating the impact of this statement on its Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities � an amendment of SFAS No. 133. This statement requires enhanced disclosures
about an entity�s derivative and hedging. This statement is effective for the Company beginning
September 1, 2008. Management does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 161 to have an impact on
its Consolidated Financial Statements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued FSP APB 14-1, Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That
May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlement). This FSP specifies that
issuers of such instruments should separately account for the liability and equity components in a
manner that will reflect the entity�s nonconvertible debt borrowing rate when interest cost is
recognized in subsequent periods. This FSP is effective for the Company beginning September 1,
2009. Management is currently evaluating the impact of this FSP on its Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Note 3 - Acquisitions

Fiscal 2008

Roller Bearing Industries

On April 4, 2008 the Company purchased substantially all of the operating assets of Roller Bearing
Industries, Inc. (RBI) for $7.8 million in cash, plus or minus working capital adjustments. RBI
operates a railcar bearings reconditioning business in Elizabethtown, Kentucky. Reconditioned
bearings are used in the refurbishment of railcar wheelsets. The financial results of these operations
since the acquisition are reported in the Company�s Consolidated Financial Statements as part of the
refurbishment & parts segment. The impact of this acquisition was not material to the Company�s
consolidated results of operations; therefore, pro forma financial information has not been included.
The allocation of the purchase price among certain assets and liabilities is still in process. As a result,
the allocation is preliminary and subject to further refinement upon completion of analyses and
valuations.

The preliminary fair value of the net assets acquired from RBI was as follows:
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(In thousands)
Accounts receivable $ 479
Inventories 2,963
Property, plant and equipment 1,644
Intangibles and other 1,178
Goodwill 1,742

Total assets acquired 8,006

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 165

Total liabilities assumed 165

Net assets acquired $  7,841
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American Allied Railway Equipment Company

On March 28, 2008 the Company purchased substantially all of the operating assets of American
Allied Railway Equipment Company and its affiliates (AARE) for $83.3 million in cash, plus or
minus working capital adjustments. The purchase price was paid from existing cash balances and
credit facilities. The two wheel facilities in Washington, Illinois and Macon, Georgia, supply new and
reconditioned wheelsets to freight car maintenance locations as well as new railcar manufacturing
facilities. AARE also operates a parts reconditioning business in Peoria, Illinois, where it reconditions
railcar yokes, couplers, side frames and bolsters. The financial results since the acquisition are
reported in the Company�s Consolidated Financial Statements as part of the refurbishment & parts
segment.

The allocation of the purchase price among certain assets and liabilities is still in process. As a result,
the information shown below is preliminary and subject to further refinement upon completion of
analyses and valuations.

The preliminary fair value of the net assets acquired from AARE was as follows:

(In thousands)
Accounts receivable $  10,228
Inventories 12,966
Property, plant and equipment 8,377
Intangibles and other 27,800
Goodwill 29,405

Total assets acquired 88,776

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5,451

Total liabilities assumed 5,451
Net assets acquired $ 83,325

The unaudited pro forma financial information presented below has been prepared to illustrate
Greenbrier�s consolidated results had the acquisition of AARE occurred at the beginning of each
period presented:

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2008 2007 2006
Revenue $  1,341,839 $  1,320,720 $  1,036,673
Net earnings $ 21,305 $ 28,899 $ 43,721
Basic earnings per share $ 1.30 $ 1.80 $ 2.78
Diluted earnings per share $ 1.30 $ 1.80 $ 2.74

The unaudited pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of what actual results
would have been had the transaction occurred at the beginning of the fiscal year, and may not be
indicative of the results of future operations of the Company.

Fiscal 2007
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Meridian Rail Holdings Corp.

On November 6, 2006, the Company acquired 100% of the stock of Meridian Rail Holdings Corp.
(Meridian) for $237.9 million in cash which includes the purchase price of $227.5 million plus
working capital adjustments. Meridian is a leading supplier of wheel maintenance services to the
North American freight car industry. Operating out of six facilities, Meridian supplies replacement
wheel sets and axles to approximately 170 freight car maintenance locations where worn or damaged
wheels, axles, or bearings are reconditioned or replaced. Meridian also performs coupler
reconditioning and railcar repair at other facilities. The financial results since the acquisition are
reported in the Company�s Consolidated Financial Statements as part of the refurbishment & parts
segment.
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The fair value of the net assets acquired in the Meridian acquisition was as follows:

(In thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,053
Accounts receivable 20,221
Inventories 52,895
Property, plant and equipment 14,473
Intangibles and other 36,991
Goodwill 163,669

Total assets acquired 291,302

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 40,013
Deferred income taxes 13,404

Total liabilities assumed 53,417

Net assets acquired $  237,885

The unaudited pro forma financial information presented below has been prepared to illustrate
Greenbrier�s consolidated results had the acquisition of Meridian occurred at the beginning of each
period presented:

(In thousands, except per share
amounts) 2007 2006
Revenue $  1,270,234 $  1,176,933
Net earnings $ 28,108 $ 57,345
Basic earnings per share $ 1.75 $ 3.64
Diluted earnings per share $ 1.75 $ 3.60

This unaudited pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of what actual results
would have been had the transaction occurred at the beginning of the fiscal year, and may not be
indicative of the results of future operations of the Company.

Rail Car America

On September 11, 2006, the Company purchased substantially all of the operating assets of Rail Car
America (RCA), its American Hydraulics division and the assets of its wholly owned subsidiary,
Brandon Corp. RCA, a provider of intermodal and conventional railcar repair services in North
America, operates from four repair facilities in the United States. RCA also reconditions and repairs
end-of-railcar cushioning units through its American Hydraulics division and operates a switching
line in Nebraska through Brandon Corp. The purchase price of the net assets included $29.1 million
of cash and a $3.0 million promissory note due in September 2008. The financial results of these
operations since the acquisition are reported in the Company�s Consolidated Financial Statements as
part of the refurbishment & parts segment. The impact of this acquisition was not material to the
Company�s consolidated results of operations; therefore, proforma financial information has not been
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The fair value of the net assets acquired from RCA was as follows:

(In thousands)
Accounts receivable $ 628
Inventories 7,830
Property, plant and equipment 22,053
Intangibles and other 4,102

Total assets acquired 34,613

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,235
Notes payable 229

Total liabilities assumed 2,464

Net assets acquired $  32,149

Other Acquisitions

In April 2007, the Company acquired a leasing services operation for $4.3 million. These operations
were not material to the Company�s consolidated results of operations; therefore, proforma financial
information has not been included. As a result of the preliminary allocation of purchase price among
assets and liabilities, $3.1 million in goodwill was recorded.

Note 4 - Discontinued Operations

In 2006, the Company recorded $0.1 million (net of tax) in income from discontinued operations
resulting from the reversal of the remaining contingent liability associated with litigation settled in
August 2004 on the transportation logistics segment that was disposed of in 1998.

Note 5 - Special Charges

In April 2007, the Company�s board of directors approved the permanent closure of the Company�s
Canadian railcar manufacturing facility, TrentonWorks. As a result of the facility closure decision,
special charges of $2.3 million were recorded during 2008 consisting of severance costs and
professional and other expenses.

Special charges of $21.9 million were recorded during 2007 associated with the impairment and
subsequent closure of TrentonWorks. These changes consist of $14.2 million of impairment of
property, plant and equipment, $2.1 million of inventory impairment, $1.1 million impairment of
goodwill and other, $3.9 million of severance costs and $0.6 million of professional and other fees.

Note 6 - De-consolidation of Subsidiary

On March 13, 2008 TrentonWorks filed for bankruptcy with the Office of the Superintendent of
Bankruptcy Canada whereby the assets of TrentonWorks are being administered and liquidated by an
appointed trustee. The Company has not guaranteed any obligations of TrentonWorks and does not
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believe it will be liable for any of TrentonWorks� liabilities. Under generally accepted accounting
principles, consolidation is generally required for investments of more than 50% ownership, except
when control is not held by the majority owner. Under these principles, bankruptcy represents
conditions which may preclude consolidation in instances where control rests with the bankruptcy
court and trustee, rather than the majority owner. As a result, the Company discontinued
consolidating TrentonWorks� financial statements beginning on March 13, 2008 and began reporting
its investment in TrentonWorks using the cost method. Under the cost method, the investment is
reflected as a single amount on the Company�s Consolidated Balance Sheet. De-consolidation resulted
in a loss in excess of the Company�s investment in the subsidiary of $15.3 million which is included as
a liability on the Company�s Consolidated Balance Sheet. In addition, a $3.4 million loss is included in
other comprehensive loss. The Company may recognize up to $11.9 million of income with the
reversal of the $15.3 million liability, net of the $3.4 million other comprehensive loss, when the
bankruptcy is resolved.
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The following is the TrentonWorks condensed balance sheet as of March 13, 2008:

March 13,
(In thousands, unaudited) 2008
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,217
Accounts receivable 694
Property, plant and equipment 3,256
Intangibles and other assets 162

$ 5,329

Liabilities and Stockholders� Deficit
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 11,755
Notes payable 8,887
Stockholders� deficit (15,313)

$ 5,329

Note 7 - Inventories

(In thousands) 2008 2007
Manufacturing supplies and raw materials $  150,505 $  111,957
Work-in-process 106,542 86,733
Lower cost or market adjustment (4,999) (3,807)

$ 252,048 $ 194,883

(In thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Lower of cost or market adjustment
Balance at beginning of period $ 3,807 $ 5,035 $  3,592
Charge to cost of revenue 4,567 5,092 1,976
Disposition of inventory  (3,636)  (6,667) (670)
Currency translation effect 261 347 137

Balance at end of period $ 4,999 $ 3,807 $ 5,035

Note 8 - Assets Held for Sale

(In thousands) 2008 2007
Railcars held for sale $  23,559 $  12,922
Railcars in transit to customer 6,787 8,958
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Finished goods - parts 22,017 21,023

$ 52,363 $ 42,903
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Note 9 - Investment in Direct Finance Leases

(In thousands) 2008 2007
Future minimum receipts on lease contracts $  15,966 $  18,212
Maintenance, insurance, and taxes (1,201) (1,382)

Net minimum lease receipts 14,765 16,830
Estimated residual values 1,461 1,687
Unearned finance charges (7,758) (9,477)

$ 8,468 $ 9,040

Future minimum receipts on the direct finance lease contracts are as follows:

(In thousands)
Year ending August 31,
2009 $ 2,060
2010 2,044
2011 2,043
2012 2,043
2013 1,708
Thereafter 6,068

$  15,966

Note 10 - Equipment on Operating Leases

Equipment on operating leases is reported net of accumulated depreciation of $68.8 million and
$74.5 million as of August 31, 2008 and 2007. In addition, certain railcar equipment leased-in by the
Company (see Note 26) is subleased to customers under non-cancelable operating leases. Aggregate
minimum future amounts receivable under all non-cancelable operating leases and subleases are as
follows:

(In thousands)
Year ending August 31,
2009 $ 27,155
2010 23,069
2011 19,132
2012 12,976
2013 7,097
Thereafter 26,090

$  115,519
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Certain equipment is also operated under daily, monthly or car hire arrangements. Associated revenue
amounted to $28.4 million, $25.9 million and $28.6 million for the years ended August 31, 2008,
2007 and 2006.
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Note 11 - Property, Plant and Equipment

(In thousands) 2008 2007
Land and improvements $ 21,323 $ 19,118
Machinery and equipment 157,567 148,578
Buildings and improvements 71,029 82,904
Other 37,197 25,055

287,116 275,655
Accumulated depreciation  (150,610)  (162,842)

$ 136,506 $ 112,813

Note 12 - Goodwill

Changes in the carrying value of goodwill for the year ended August 31, 2008 are as follows:

Refurbishment
&

Leasing
&

(In thousands) Manufacturing Parts Services Total
Balance beginning of period $  1,287 $  164,643 $  3,057 $  168,987
Additions � 31,147 14 31,161

Balance August 31, 2008 $ 1,287 $ 195,790 $ 3,071 $ 200,148

During the year ended August 31, 2008, $31.1 million in goodwill was recorded from acquisitions as
discussed in Note 3.

During 2008 the Company completed its annual review of goodwill and concluded that goodwill was
not impaired.

Note 13 - Investment in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries

In June 2003, the Company acquired a 33% minority ownership interest in a joint venture which
produces castings for freight cars. This joint venture is accounted for under the equity method and the
investment is included in other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Summarized financial data for the castings joint venture is as follows:

(In thousands) 2008 2007
Current assets $  14,528 $  10,869
Total assets $ 29,538 $ 27,060
Current liabilities $ 11,967 $ 9,932
Equity $ 14,856 $ 10,501
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(In thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Revenue $  86,293 $  80,101 $  123,086
Net earnings (loss) $ 4,355 $ (217) $ 857

Note 14 - Revolving Notes

All amounts originating in foreign currency have been translated at the August 31, 2008 exchange
rate for the following discussion. Senior secured revolving credit facilities, consisting of two
components, aggregated $335.2 million as of August 31, 2008. A $290.0 million revolving line of
credit is available through November 2011 to provide working capital and interim financing of
equipment, principally for the United States and Mexican operations. Advances under this facility
bear interest at variable rates that depend on the type of borrowing and the
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defined ratio of debt to total capitalization. In addition, lines of credit totaling $45.2 million, with
various variable rates, are available for working capital needs of the European manufacturing
operation. As of August 31, 2008 these European credit facilities have maturities that range from
November 30, 2008 through August 31, 2009. Approximately 50% of available borrowings for the
European credit facilities have maturity dates in the second half of fiscal year 2009. European credit
facility renewals are continually under negotiation and the Company currently anticipates
$4.4 million to be repaid rather than renewed.

As of August 31, 2008 outstanding borrowings under these facilities aggregated $105.8 million in
revolving notes and $3.7 million in letters of credit. This consists of $65.0 million in revolving notes
and $3.7 million in letters of credit outstanding under the United States credit facility and
$40.8 million in revolving notes under the European credit facilities. Available borrowings for all
credit facilities are generally based on defined levels of inventory, receivables, and leased equipment,
as well as total debt to consolidated capitalization and interest coverage ratios which as of August 31,
2008 levels would provide for maximum additional borrowing of $174.3 million.

Note 15 - Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

(In thousands) 2008 2007
Trade payables $  207,173 $  164,060
Accrued payroll and related liabilities 25,478 31,034
Accrued maintenance 17,067 20,498
Accrued warranty 11,873 15,911
Other 12,731 12,565

$ 274,322 $ 244,068

Note 16 - Maintenance and Warranty Accruals

(In thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Accrued maintenance
Balance at beginning of period $ 20,498 $ 22,985 $ 25,464
Charged to cost of revenue 17,720 18,268 16,210
Payments  (21,151)  (20,755)  (18,689)

Balance at end of period $ 17,067 $ 20,498 $ 22,985

Accrued warranty
Balance at beginning of period $ 15,911 $ 14,201 $ 15,037
Charged to cost of revenue 2,808 2, 585 3,111
Payments (5,655) (3,545) (4,492)
Currency translation effect 956 596 545
De-consolidation effect (2,147) � �
Acquisition � 2,074 �

Balance at end of period $ 11,873 $ 15,911 $ 14,201
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Note 17 - Notes Payable

(In thousands) 2008 2007
Senior unsecured notes $  235,000 $  235,000
Convertible senior notes 100,000 100,000
Term loans 160,476 125,814
Other notes payable 532 101

$ 496,008 $ 460,915

Senior unsecured notes, due 2015, bear interest at a fixed rate of 83/8%, paid semi-annually in arrears
on May 15th and November 15th of each year. Payment on the notes is guaranteed by substantially all
of the Company�s domestic subsidiaries.

Convertible senior notes, due 2026, bear interest at a fixed rate of 23/8?%, paid semi-annually in
arrears on May 15th and November 15th. The Company will also pay contingent interest of 3/8% on
the notes in certain circumstances commencing with the six month period beginning May 15, 2013.
Payment on the convertible notes is guaranteed by substantially all of the Company�s domestic
subsidiaries. The convertible senior notes will be convertible upon the occurrence of specified events
into cash and shares, if any, of Greenbrier�s common stock at an initial conversion rate of
20.8125 shares per $1,000 principal amount of the notes (which is equal to an initial conversion price
of $48.05 per share). The initial conversion rate is subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of
certain events, as defined. On or after May 15, 2013, Greenbrier may redeem all or a portion of the
notes at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and
unpaid interest. On May 15, 2013, May 15, 2016 and May 15, 2021 and in the event of certain
fundamental changes, holders may require the Company to repurchase all or a portion of their notes at
a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest.

On March 30, 2007, the Company issued a $100.0 million senior term note secured by a pool of
leased railcars. The note bears a floating interest rate of LIBOR plus 1% with principal of
$0.7 million paid quarterly in arrears and a balloon payment of $81.8 million due at the end of the
seven-year loan term. On May 9, 2008, the Company issued an additional $50.0 million senior term
note secured by a pool of leased railcars. The note bears a floating interest rate of LIBOR plus 1%
with principal of $0.3 million paid quarterly in arrears and a balloon payment of $41.2 million due at
the end of the seven-year loan term. Other term loans are due in varying installments through
September 2012 and are principally unsecured. As of August 31, 2008, the effective interest rates on
the term loans ranged from 3.8% to 8.4%.

The revolving and operating lines of credit, along with notes payable, contain covenants with respect
to the Company and various subsidiaries, the most restrictive of which, among other things, limit the
ability to: incur additional indebtedness or guarantees; pay dividends or repurchase stock; enter into
sale leaseback transactions; create liens; sell assets; engage in transactions with affiliates including
joint ventures and non U.S. subsidiaries, including but not limited to loans, advances, equity
investments and guarantees; enter into mergers, consolidations or sales of substantially all the
Company�s assets; and enter into new lines of business. The covenants also require certain minimum
levels of tangible net worth, maximum ratios of debt to equity or total capitalization and minimum
levels of interest coverage. Currently we are seeking a line of credit to support certain of our foreign
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operations due in part to current limitations in our existing loan covenants.

Interest rate swap agreements are utilized to reduce the impact of changes in interest rates on certain
term loans. At August 31, 2008, such agreements had a notional amount of $8.4 million and mature in
March 2011.
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Principal payments on the notes payable are as follows:

(In thousands)
Year ending August 31,
2009 $ 11,025
2010 8,749
2011 6,622
2012 4,176
2013 4,061
Thereafter 461,375

$  496,008

Note 18 - Derivative Instruments

Foreign operations give rise to market risks from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Foreign
currency forward exchange contracts with established financial institutions are utilized to hedge a
portion of that risk in Pound Sterling and Euro. Interest rate swap agreements are utilized to reduce
the impact of changes in interest rates on certain debt. The Company�s foreign currency forward
exchange contracts and interest rate swap agreements are designated as cash flow hedges, and
therefore the unrealized gains and losses are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss.

At August 31, 2008 exchange rates, forward exchange contracts for the sale of Euro aggregated
$65.5 million and sale of Pound Sterling aggregated $10.0 million. Adjusting the foreign currency
exchange contracts to the fair value of the cash flow hedges at August 31, 2008 resulted in an
unrealized pre-tax gain of $0.8 million that was recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss.
The fair value of the contracts is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet. As the contracts mature at various dates through August 2009, any such
gain or loss remaining will be recognized in manufacturing revenue along with the related
transactions. In the event that the underlying sales transaction does not occur or does not occur in the
period designated at the inception of the hedge, the amount classified in accumulated other
comprehensive loss would be reclassified to the current year�s results of operations.

At August 31, 2008 exchange rates, interest rate swap agreements had a notional amount of
$8.4 million and mature in March 2011. The fair value of these cash flow hedges at August 31, 2008
resulted in an unrealized pre-tax loss of $0.3 million. The loss is included in accumulated other
comprehensive loss and the fair value of the contracts is included in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. As interest expense on the underlying debt is
recognized, amounts corresponding to the interest rate swaps are reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive loss and charged or credited to interest expense. At August 31, 2008 interest rates,
approximately $0.1 million would be reclassified to interest expense in the next 12 months.
Subsequent to August 31, 2008, the Company entered into an additional interest rate swap agreement
that was effective as of September 30, 2008. Approximately $48.0 million of term debt was swapped
from a variable rate to a fixed rate of 4.24%.

Note 19 - Stockholders� Equity
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In January 2005, the stockholders approved the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan. The plan provides for the
grant of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options, restricted shares, stock units and stock
appreciation rights. The maximum aggregate number of the Company�s common shares available for
issuance under the plan is 1,300,000. During 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company awarded restricted
stock grants totaling 443,387, 207,592 and 70,820 shares under the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan.
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The following table summarizes stock option transactions for shares under option and the related
weighted average option price:

Weighted
Average
Option

Shares Price
Balance at September 1, 2005 472,820 $  7.24
Exercised (403,424) $ 7.29

Balance at August 31, 2006 69,396 $ 6.96
Exercised (32,736) $ 6.24

Balance at August 31, 2007 36,660 $ 7.60
Exercised (5,000) $ 8.69

Balance at August 31, 2008 31,660 $ 7.42

At August 31, 2008 options outstanding have exercise prices ranging from $4.36 to $9.19 per share,
have a remaining average contractual life of 1.0 year and options to purchase 31,660 shares were
exercisable. On August 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, 262,837, 695,224 and 877,816 shares were
available for grant.

Note 20 - Earnings per Share

The shares used in the computation of the Company�s basic and diluted earnings per common share
are reconciled as follows:

(In thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 16,395 16,056 15,751
Dilutive effect of employee stock options 22 38 186

Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding 16,417 16,094 15,937

Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding include the incremental shares that would be
issued upon the assumed exercise of stock options. No options were anti-dilutive the years ended
August 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006.

Note 21 - Related Party Transactions

We follow a policy that all proposed transactions by us with directors, officers, five percent
shareholders and their affiliates will be entered into only if such transactions are on terms no less
favorable to us than could be obtained from unaffiliated parties, are reasonably expected to benefit us
and are approved by a majority of the disinterested, independent members of the Board of Directors.
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Aircraft Usage Policy. William Furman, Director, President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company is a part owner of a fleet of private aircraft managed by a private independent management
company. From time to time, the Company�s business requires charter use of privately owned aircraft.
In such instances, it is possible that charters may be placed with the Company that manages
Mr. Furman�s aircraft. In such event, any such use will be subject to the Company�s travel and
entertainment policy and the fees paid to the management company will be no less favorable than
would have been available to the Company for similar services provided by unrelated parties.

James-Furman & Company Partnership. Alan James, a former Director, and William Furman, a
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, were partners in a general
partnership, James-Furman & Company (the Partnership), that, among other things, engaged in the
ownership, leasing and marketing of railcars and programs for refurbishing and marketing of used
railcars. As a result of Mr. James� death, the Partnership dissolved as of January 28, 2005. The
Company entered into agreements with the Partnership pursuant to which the Company managed and
maintained the railcars in exchange for a fixed monthly fee that was no less favorable to the Company
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than the fee the Company could obtain for similar services rendered to unrelated parties. The
agreements between the Company and the Partnership were terminated in 2007 upon final disposition
of the operating assets. The maintenance and management fees paid to the Company under such
agreements were minimal in 2007 and $0.1 million in 2006. In addition, the Partnership paid the
Company fees of $0.1 million in 2006 for administrative and other services.

Indebtedness of Management. Since September 1, 2007, none of our directors or executive officers
has been indebted to us in excess of $60,000. In 2007, L. Clark Wood, former President of the
Company�s manufacturing operations was indebted to Greenbrier Leasing Company LLC, and had
executed a promissory note. The largest aggregate amount outstanding during fiscal year 2007 under
such promissory note was $100,000. The note was repaid during fiscal year 2007. The promissory
note was payable upon demand and secured by a mortgage on Mr. Wood�s residence. The note did not
bear interest and had not been amended since its issuance in 1994.

Note 22 - Employee Benefit Plans

Defined contribution plans are available to substantially all United States employees. Contributions
are based on a percentage of employee contributions and amounted to $1.8 million, $1.6 million and
$1.3 million for the years ended August 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006.

Defined benefit pension plans were provided for Canadian employees covered by collective
bargaining agreements. The plans provided pension benefits based on years of credited service.
Contributions to the plan were actuarially determined and were intended to fund the net periodic
pension cost. Expenses resulting from contributions to the plans were $2.4 million and $2.5 million
for the years ended August 31, 2007 and 2006. Due to the permanent closure in April 2007 and
eventual bankruptcy of our Canadian facility in March 2008, the plan was terminated.

Nonqualified deferred benefit plans exist for certain employees. Expenses resulting from
contributions to the plans were $1.6 million, $1.9 million and $1.8 million for the years ended
August 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006.

In accordance with Mexican Labor Law, under certain circumstances, the Company provides
seniority premium benefits to its employees. These benefits consist of a one-time payment equivalent
to 12 days wages for each year of service (at the employee�s most recent salary, but not to exceed
twice the legal minimum wage), payable to all employees with 15 or more years of service, as well as
to certain employees terminated involuntarily prior to the vesting of their seniority premium benefit.

Mexican labor law also requires the Company to provide statutorily mandated severance benefits to
Mexican employees terminated under certain circumstances. Such benefits consist of a one-time
payment of three months wages plus 20 days wages for each year of service payable upon involuntary
termination without just cause. Costs associated with these benefits are provided for based on
actuarial computations using the projected unit credit method.
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Note 23 - Income Taxes

Components of income tax expense of continuing operations are as follows:

(In thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Current
Federal $ 359 $ 4,025 $ 10,619
State 860 459 1,175
Foreign 4,154 (1,986) 3,904

5,373 2,498 15,698
Deferred
Federal 12,760 6,970 9,291
State 1,517 825 2,193
Foreign 7,345 (6,214) (5,484)

21,622 1,581 6,000

Change in valuation allowance (8,445) 9,578 �

$ 18,550 $ 13,657 $ 21,698

Income tax expense is computed at rates different than statutory rates. The reconciliation between
effective and statutory tax rates on continuing operations is as follows:

(In thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Federal statutory rate 35.0% 34.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 6.7 7.7 3.6
Impact of foreign operations 1.3 (6.8) (8.0)
US tax benefit utilized upon write-off of investment in
Canadian subsidiary � (24.1) �
Change in valuation allowance related to deferred tax asset (24.8) 28.0 �
Reversal of Canadian subsidiary�s deferred tax asset 28.4 � �
Loss of benefit from the closing of TrentonWorks 11.6 � �
Income tax settlement � � 4.1
Other (3.7) 1.1 0.8

54.5% 39.9% 35.5%

The Company�s income tax provision included a $3.9 million charge related to a loss of tax benefits
on net operating losses generated by the Canadian subsidiary during its closure process.
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

(In thousands) 2008 2007
Deferred tax assets:
Basis in controlled foreign corporation $ (2,518) $ (2,518)
Deferred participation (2,499) (2,265)
Maintenance and warranty accruals (8,353) (8,549)
Accrued payroll and related liabilities (4,306) (3,889)
Deferred revenue (3,680) (5,450)
Inventories and other (9,183) (5,895)
Investment and asset tax credits (531) (1,018)
Net operating loss (4,070) (11,756)

 (35,140)  (41,340)
Deferred tax liabilities:
Fixed assets 74,686 62,707
SFAS 133 and translation adjustment 1,225 1,209
Intangibles 13,056 13,610
Other 11,167 7,443

100,134 84,969

Valuation allowance 9,335 17,780
Net deferred tax liability $ 74,329 $ 61,409

At August 31, 2008, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $19 million
for foreign income tax purposes. The ultimate realization of the deferred tax assets on net operating
losses is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income before these carryforwards expire.
Net operating losses in Poland expire between 2012 and 2013. Net operating losses in Mexico can be
carried forward through 2018.

The cumulative net decrease in the valuation allowance for the year ended August 31, 2008 was
approximately $8.4 million which included a decrease of $9.7 million relating to the Canadian
subsidiary�s net operating loss generated in prior year with an offsetting decrease in deferred tax assets
and an increase of $1.3 million relating to the current year net operating losses generated in Poland
and Mexico. It is more likely than not that these net operating losses generated in the current year and
carried forward will not be utilized in the future.

The cumulative increase of $21.4 million in the deferred tax liability during the fiscal year 2008
includes an increase of approximately $11.9 million due to ordinary operations, $9.7 million due to
the reversal of a tax benefit set up on the Canadian subsidiary�s net operating loss generated in prior
year, and a decrease of approximately $0.2 million due to other miscellaneous items.

United States income taxes have not been provided for approximately $17.7 million of cumulative
undistributed earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries as Greenbrier plans to reinvest these earnings
indefinitely in operations outside the United States.
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The following is a tabular reconciliation of the total amounts unrecognized tax benefits for the year.

(In thousands) 2008
Unrecognized Tax Benefit � Opening Balance $  11,839
Gross increases � tax positions in prior period 993
Gross decreases � tax positions in prior period �
Gross increases � tax positions in current period �
Settlements �
Lapse of statute of limitations �

Unrecognized Tax Benefit � Ending Balance $ 12,832

The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S., various states and foreign jurisdictions. The
Companies tax returns for 2008, 2007, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are subject to examination by the
tax authorities. The Company is no longer subject to U.S. Federal, State, Local or Foreign
examinations by tax authorities for years before 2003.

Note 24 - Segment Information

Greenbrier currently operates in three reportable segments: manufacturing, refurbishment & parts and
leasing & services. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the
summary of significant accounting policies. Performance is evaluated based on margin. Intersegment
sales and transfers are accounted for as if the sales or transfers were to third parties. While
intercompany transactions are treated the same as third-party transactions to evaluate segment
performance, the revenues and related expenses are eliminated in consolidation and therefore do not
impact consolidated results.
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The information in the following tables is derived directly from the segments� internal financial
reports used for corporate management purposes. Unallocated assets primarily consist of cash and
short-term investments.

(In thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Revenue:
Manufacturing $ 724,072 $ 776,471 $ 820,783
Refurbishment & parts 535,031 389,242 106,228
Leasing & services 98,041 99,966 121,184
Intersegment eliminations (67,065) (41,851) (94,372)

$  1,290,079 $  1,223,828 $  953,823

Margin:
Manufacturing $ 11,214 $ 57,516 $ 82,087
Refurbishment & parts 101,283 64,001 14,781
Leasing & services 49,746 57,916 60,511

$ 162,243 $ 179,433 $ 157,379

Assets:
Manufacturing $ 325,632 $ 297,718 $ 293,754
Refurbishment & parts 519,575 400,069 48,340
Leasing & services 403,889 349,942 390,270
Unallocated 7,864 25,020 144,950

$ 1,256,960 $ 1,072,749 $ 877,314

Depreciation and amortization:
Manufacturing $ 11,267 $ 10,762 $ 10,258
Refurbishment & parts 10,338 9,042 2,360
Leasing & services 13,481 13,022 12,635

$ 35,086 $ 32,826 $ 25,253

Capital expenditures:
Manufacturing $ 24,113 $ 20,361 $ 15,121
Refurbishment & parts 7,651 5,009 2,906
Leasing & services 45,880 111,924 122,542

$ 77,644 $ 137,294 $ 140,569

The following table summarizes selected geographic information.

(In thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Revenue:
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United States $  1,058,418 $  1,054,288 $  846,560
Foreign 231,661 169,540 107,263

$ 1,290,079 $ 1,223,828 $ 953,823

Identifiable assets:
United States $ 1,012,585 $ 837,239 $ 679,742
Canada � 10,350 50,192
Mexico 130,295 122,154 80,447
Europe 114,080 103,006 66,933

$ 1,256,960 $ 1,072,749 $ 877,314
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Reconciliation of segment margin to earnings before income tax, minority interest and equity in
unconsolidated subsidiary:

(In thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Segment margin $  162,243 $  179,433 $  157,379
Less unallocated expenses:
Selling and administrative 85,133 83,414 70,918
Interest and foreign exchange 40,770 39,915 25,396
Special charges 2,302 21,899 �

Earnings before income tax expense, minority interest
and equity in unconsolidated subsidiary $ 34,038 $ 34,205 $ 61,065

Note 25 - Customer Concentration

In 2008, revenue from two customers was 26% and 11% of total revenue. Revenue from one
customer was 21% of total revenue for the year ended August 31, 2007 and revenue from two
customers was 29% and 17% of total revenue for the year ended August 31, 2006. No other
customers accounted for more than 10% of total revenues in 2008, 2007, or 2006. One customer had a
balance that equaled or exceeded 10% of accounts receivable and in total represented 12% of the
consolidated accounts receivable balance at August 31, 2008.

Note 26 - Lease Commitments

Lease expense for railcar equipment leased in under non-cancelable leases was $11.6 million,
$7.0 million and $6.7 million for the years ended August 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. Aggregate
minimum future amounts payable under these non-cancelable railcar equipment leases are as follows:

(In thousands)
Year ending August 31,
2009 $ 8,736
2010 7,510
2011 5,150
2012 3,239
2013 377
Thereafter 368

$  25,380

Operating leases for domestic railcar repair facilities, office space and certain manufacturing and
office equipment expire at various dates through September 2016. Rental expense for facilities, office
space and equipment was $12.3 million, $8.7 million and $6.8 million for the years ended August 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006. Aggregate minimum future amounts payable under these non-cancelable
operating leases are as follows:
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(In thousands)
Year ending August 31,
2009 $ 8,456
2010 6,421
2011 5,014
2012 2,574
2013 814
Thereafter 639

$  23,918
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Note 27 - Commitments and Contingencies

Environmental studies have been conducted of the Company�s owned and leased properties that
indicate additional investigation and some remediation on certain properties may be necessary. The
Company�s Portland, Oregon manufacturing facility is located adjacent to the Willamette River. The
United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has classified portions of the river bed,
including the portion fronting Greenbrier�s facility, as a federal �National Priority List� or �Superfund� site
due to sediment contamination (the Portland Harbor Site). Greenbrier and more than 80 other parties
have received a �General Notice� of potential liability from the EPA relating to the Portland Harbor
Site. The letter advised the Company that it may be liable for the costs of investigation and
remediation (which liability may be joint and several with other potentially responsible parties) as
well as for natural resource damages resulting from releases of hazardous substances to the site. At
this time, ten private and public entities, including the Company, have signed an Administrative
Order of Consent to perform a remedial investigation/feasibility study (RI/FS) of the Portland Harbor
Site under EPA oversight, and several additional entities have not signed such consent, but are
nevertheless contributing money to the effort. The study is expected to be completed in 2010. In May
2006, the EPA notified several additional entities, including other federal agencies that it is prepared
to issue unilateral orders compelling additional participation in the remedial investigation. Some of
those entities subsequently contributed funds to the RI/FS effort. In addition, the Company has
entered into a Voluntary Clean-Up Agreement with the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality
in which the Company agreed to conduct an investigation of whether, and to what extent, past or
present operations at the Portland property may have released hazardous substances to the
environment. The Company is also conducting groundwater remediation relating to a historical spill
on the property which antedates its ownership.

Because these environmental investigations are still underway, the Company is unable to determine
the amount of ultimate liability relating to these matters. Based on the results of the pending
investigations and future assessments of natural resource damages, Greenbrier may be required to
incur costs associated with additional phases of investigation or remedial action, and may be liable for
damages to natural resources. In addition, the Company may be required to perform periodic
maintenance dredging in order to continue to launch vessels from its launch ways in Portland Oregon,
on the Willamette River, and the river�s classification as a Superfund site could result in some
limitations on future dredging and launch activities. Any of these matters could adversely affect the
Company�s business and results of operations, or the value of its Portland property.

From time to time, Greenbrier is involved as a defendant in litigation in the ordinary course of
business, the outcome of which cannot be predicted with certainty. While the ultimate outcome of
such legal proceedings cannot be determined at this time, the Company believes that the resolution of
these actions will not have a material adverse effect on the Company�s Consolidated Financial
Statements.

On April 20, 2004, BC Rail Partnership initiated litigation against the Company and TrentonWorks in
the Supreme Court of Nova Scotia, alleging breach of contract and negligent manufacture and design
of railcars which were involved in a 1999 derailment. No trial date has been set.

Greenbrier and a customer, SEB Finans AB (SEB), have raised performance concerns related to a
component that the Company installed on 372 railcar units with an aggregate sales value of
approximately $20.0 million produced under a contract with SEB. On December 9, 2005, SEB filed a
Statement of Claim in an arbitration proceeding in Stockholm, Sweden, against Greenbrier alleging
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that the cars were defective and could not be used for their intended purpose. A settlement agreement
was entered into effective February 28, 2007 pursuant to which the railcar units previously delivered
were to be repaired and the remaining units completed and delivered to SEB. Greenbrier is
proceeding with repairs of the railcars in accordance with the terms of the settlement agreement.
Current estimates of potential costs of such repairs do not exceed amounts accrued for warranty.

When the Company acquired the assets of the Freight Wagon Division of DaimlerChrysler in January
2000, it acquired a contract to build 201 freight cars for Okombi, a European freight car leasing
company. Subsequently, Okombi made breach of warranty and late delivery claims against the
Company which grew out of design and certification problems. All of these issues were settled as of
March 2004. Recently, new allegations have been made, the most serious of which involve cracks to
the structure of the cars. Okombi has been required to remove all 201 freight cars from service, and a
formal claim has been made against the Company. Legal and commercial

The Greenbrier Companies 2008 Annual Report 57 

Edgar Filing: NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 106



Table of Contents

evaluations are on-going to determine what obligations the Company might have, if any, to remedy
the alleged defects.

Management intends to vigorously defend its position in each of the open foregoing cases and
believes that any ultimate liability resulting from the above litigation will not materially affect the
Company�s Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company is involved as a defendant in other litigation initiated in the ordinary course of
business. While the ultimate outcome of such legal proceedings cannot be determined at this time,
management believes that the resolution of these actions will not have a material adverse effect on the
Company�s Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company has entered into contingent rental assistance agreements, aggregating $6.4 million, on
certain railcars subject to leases that have been sold to third parties. These agreements guarantee the
purchasers a minimum lease rental, subject to a maximum defined rental assistance amount, over
remaining periods of up to five years. A liability is established and revenue is reduced in the period
during which a determination can be made that it is probable that a rental shortfall will occur and the
amount can be estimated. For the year ended August 31, 2008 $1.2 million was accrued to cover
probable rental shortfall. For the years ended August 31, 2007 and 2006 no accruals were made to
cover estimated obligations as management determined no rental shortfall was probable. The
remaining balance of the accrued liability was $0.5 million as August 31, 2008. All of these
agreements were entered into prior to December 31, 2002 and have not been modified since. The
accounting for any future rental assistance agreements will comply with the guidance required by
FASB Interpretation (FIN) 45 which pertains to contracts entered into or modified subsequent to
December 31, 2002.

A portion of leasing & services revenue is derived from �car hire� which is a fee that a railroad pays for
the use of railcars owned by other railroads or third parties. Car hire earned by a railcar is usually
made up of hourly and mileage components. Railcar owners and users have the right to negotiate car
hire rates. If the railcar owner and railcar user cannot come to an agreement on a car hire rate then
either party has the right to call for arbitration. In arbitration both the owner�s or user�s rate is selected
and that rate becomes effective for a one-year period. There is some risk that car hire rates could be
negotiated or arbitrated to lower levels in the future. This could reduce future car hire revenue for the
Company which amounted to $26.1 million, $23.2 million and $25.3 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006.

In accordance with customary business practices in Europe, the Company has $17.9 million in bank
and third party performance, advance payment and warranty guarantee facilities, all of which have
been utilized as of August 31, 2008. To date no amounts have been drawn under these performance,
advance payment and warranty guarantee facilities.

At August 31, 2008, an unconsolidated subsidiary had $4.7 million of third party debt, for which the
Company has guaranteed 33% or approximately $1.6 million. In the event that there is a change in
control or insolvency by any of the three 33% investors that have guaranteed the debt, the remaining
investors� share of the guarantee will increase proportionately.

The Company has outstanding letters of credit aggregating $3.7 million associated with facility leases
and payroll.

Note 28 - Fair Value of Financial Instruments
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The estimated fair values of financial instruments and the methods and assumptions used to estimate
such fair values are as follows:

2008
Carrying Estimated

(In thousands) Amount Fair Value
Notes payable $  496,008 $  482,423
Deferred participation $ 466 $ 198
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2007
Carrying Estimated

(In thousands) Amount Fair Value
Notes payable $  460,915 $  446,225
Deferred participation $ 476 $ 188

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, accounts and notes receivable, revolving notes,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities, foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swaps is
a reasonable estimate of fair value of these financial instruments. Estimated rates currently available
to the Company for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities are used to estimate the fair
value of notes payable. The fair value of deferred participation is estimated by discounting the
estimated future cash payments using the Company�s estimated incremental borrowing rate.

Note 29 - Guarantor/Non Guarantor

The $235 million combined senior unsecured notes (the Notes) issued on May 11, 2005 and
November 21, 2005 and $100 million of convertible senior notes issued on May 22, 2006 are fully
and unconditionally and jointly and severally guaranteed by substantially all of Greenbrier�s material
wholly owned United States subsidiaries: Autostack Company LLC, Greenbrier-Concarril, LLC,
Greenbrier Leasing Company LLC, Greenbrier Leasing Limited Partner, LLC, Greenbrier
Management Services, LLC, Greenbrier Leasing, L.P., Greenbrier Railcar LLC, Gunderson LLC,
Gunderson Marine LLC, Gunderson Rail Services LLC, Meridian Rail Holdings Corp., Meridian Rail
Acquisition Corp., Meridian Rail Mexico City Corp., Brandon Railroad LLC and Gunderson
Specialty Products, LLC. No other subsidiaries guarantee the Notes.

The following represents the supplemental consolidated condensed financial information of
Greenbrier and its guarantor and non guarantor subsidiaries, as of August 31, 2008 and 2007 and for
the years ended August 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. The information is presented on the basis of
Greenbrier accounting for its ownership of its wholly owned subsidiaries using the equity method of
accounting. The equity method investment for each subsidiary is recorded by the parent in intangibles
and other assets. Intercompany transactions of goods and services between the guarantor and non
guarantor subsidiaries are presented as if the sales or transfers were at fair value to third parties and
eliminated in consolidation.

The condensed consolidating statement of cash flows for the years ended August 31, 2007 and 2006
has been restated with respect to the presentation of transactions that are settled on a net basis through
the Company�s intercompany payables and receivables. The Company had previously presented
intercompany advances and investment in subsidiaries between the parent and its guarantor and
non-guarantor subsidiaries as operating activities. These transactions are now presented in financing
and investing activities. As any changes in the classification between operating, investing and
financing are eliminated in consolidation, there is no impact to the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows for the years ended August 31, 2007 and 2006.

The Greenbrier Companies 2008 Annual Report 59 

Edgar Filing: NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 109



Table of Contents

The Greenbrier Companies, Inc.
    Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
    For the year ended August 31, 2008

Combined
Combined Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

(In thousands) Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents $ � $ 1,593 $ 4,364 $ � $ 5,957
Restricted cash � � 1,231 � 1,231
Accounts receivable 165,118 (22,604) 39,341 2 181,857
Inventories � 143,557 108,491 � 252,048
Assets held for sale � 45,205 7,158 � 52,363
Investment in direct
finance leases � 8,468 � � 8,468
Equipment on operating
leases � 321,210 � (1,889) 319,321
Property, plant and
equipment 4,002 89,157 43,347 � 136,506
Goodwill � 200,012 � 136 200,148
Intangibles and other
assets 510,889 118,952 3,803 (534,583) 99,061

$ 680,009 $ 905,550 $ 207,735 $ (536,334) $ 1,256,960

Liabilities and
Stockholders� Equity
Revolving notes $ 65,000 $ � $ 40,808 $ � $ 105,808
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities (7,486) 187,440 95,064 (696) 274,322
Losses in excess of
investment in
de-consolidated
subsidiary 15,313 � � � 15,313
Deferred income taxes 6,385 71,717 (3,206) (567) 74,329
Deferred revenue 931 16,094 5,010 � 22,035
Notes payable 339,339 152,654 4,015 � 496,008
Minority interest � � (27) 8,645 8,618
Stockholders� Equity 260,527 477,645 66,071 (543,716) 260,527

$ 680,009 $ 905,550 $ 207,735 $ (536,334) $ 1,256,960
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The Greenbrier Companies, Inc.
    Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations
    For the year ended August 31, 2008

Combined
Combined Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

(In thousands) Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Revenue
Manufacturing $ 1,869 $ 368,285 $ 543,526 $ (248,587) $ 665,093
Refurbishment & parts � 527,413 53 � 527,466
Leasing & services 1,162 96,854 � (496) 97,520

3,031 992,552 543,579 (249,083)  1,290,079
Cost of revenue
Manufacturing 600 371,940 529,743  (248,404) 653,879
Refurbishment & parts � 426,138 45 � 426,183
Leasing & services � 47,836 � (62) 47,774

600 845,914 529,788 (248,466) 1,127,836
Margin 2,431 146,638 13,791 (617) 162,243
Other costs
Selling and
administrative 32,927 35,601 16,606 (1) 85,133
Interest and foreign
exchange 28,043 5,946 7,280 (499) 40,770
Special charges � � 2,302 � 2,302

60,970 41,547 26,188 (500) 128,205
Earnings (loss) before
income taxes, minority
interest and equity in
unconsolidated
subsidiaries  (58,539)  105,091  (12,397) (117) 34,038
Income tax (expense)
benefit 25,627 (42,194) (3,146) 1,163 (18,550)

(32,912) 62,897 (15,543) 1,046 15,488
Minority interest � � 20 3,162 3,182
Equity in earnings (loss)
of unconsolidated
subsidiaries 52,454 4,359 � (55,941) 872

Net earnings $ 19,542 $ 67,256 $  (15,523) $ (51,733) $ 19,542
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The Greenbrier Companies, Inc.
    Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
    For the year ended August 31, 2008

Combined
Combined Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

(In thousands) Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Cash flows from
operating activities:
Net earnings (loss) $ 19,542 $ 67,256 $ (15,523) $  (51,733) $ 19,542
Adjustments to reconcile
net earnings to net cash
provided by (used in)
operating activities:
Deferred income taxes 1,428 12,165 (245) (429) 12,919
Depreciation and
amortization 668 27,501 6,979 (62) 35,086
Gain on sales of
equipment � (8,007) � (3) (8,010)
Special charges � � 2,302 � 2,302
Minority interest � � (21) (3,107) (3,128)
Other (136) 428 44 � 336
Decrease (increase) in
assets:
Accounts receivable 4 (6,538) (1,084) (3) (7,621)
Inventories � (25,099) (4,593) � (29,692)
Assets held for sale � (17,525) 6,904 � (10,621)
Other 1,086 (3,638) 19,123 (19,271) (2,700)
Increase (decrease) in
liabilities:
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 20,108 3,375 (987) (695) 21,801
Deferred revenue (155) 9,257 (7,198) � 1,904

Net cash provided by
(used in) operating
activities 42,545 59,175 5,701 (75,303) 32,118

Cash flows from
investing activities:
Principal payments
received under direct
finance leases � 375 � � 375
Proceeds from sales of
equipment � 14,598 � � 14,598
Investment in and net
advances to

(71,735) (2,629) � 75,222 858
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unconsolidated
subsidiaries
Acquisitions, net of cash
acquired � (91,166) � � (91,166)
De-consolidation of
subsidiary (1,217) (1,217)
Use of restricted cash � � 2,046 � 2,046
Capital expenditures (2,379) (55,922) (19,434) 91 (77,644)

Net cash provided by
(used in) investing
activities (74,114)  (134,744)  (18,605) 75,313 (152,150)

Cash flows from
financing activities:
Changes in revolving
notes 65,000 � (9,486) � 55,514
Intercompany advances (42,735) 31,576 11,159 � �
Proceeds from issuance of
notes payable � 49,613 � � 49,613
Repayments of notes
payable (1,349) (4,278) (1,292) � (6,919)
Dividends paid (5,261) � � � (5,261)
Stock options exercised
and restricted stock
awards 4,007 � � � 4007
Excess tax expense of
stock options exercised (76) � � � (76)
Investment by joint
venture partner � � 6,600 � 6,600

Net cash provided by
financing activities 19,586 76,911 6,981 � 103,478

Effect of exchange rate
changes (3,439) 251 4,901 (10) 1,703
Increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents  (15,422) 1,593 (1,022) �  (14,851)
Cash and cash
equivalents
Beginning of period 15,422 � 5,386 � 20,808

End of period $ � $ 1,593 $ 4,364 $ � $ 5,957
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The Greenbrier Companies, Inc.
    Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
    For the year ended August 31, 2007

Combined
Combined Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

(In thousands) Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents $ 15,422 $ � $ 5,386 $ � $ 20,808
Restricted cash � � 2,693 � 2,693
Accounts receivable 122,388 8,893 27,825 (2,068) 157,038
Inventories � 102,529 92,354 � 194,883
Assets held for sale � 28,841 14,062 � 42,903
Investment in direct
finance leases � 9,040 � � 9,040
Equipment on
operating leases � 296,189 � (1,863) 294,326
Property, plant and
equipment 2,191 78,894 31,728 � 112,813
Goodwill � 168,851 � 136 168,987
Intangibles and other
assets 436,709 89,685 2,406 (459,542) 69,258

$ 576,710 $ 782,922 $ 176,454 $ (463,337) $ 1,072,749

Liabilities and
Stockholders� Equity
Revolving notes $ � $ � $ 39,568 $ � $ 39,568
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities (12,280) 177,251 76,810 (2,068) 239,713
Participation � 4,355 � � 4,355
Deferred income taxes 4,957 59,551 (2,959) (139) 61,410
Deferred revenue 1,086 7,310 9,656 � 18,052
Notes payable 340,688 106,926 13,301 � 460,915
Minority interest � 6,750 � (1,604) 5,146

Stockholders� Equity 242,259 420,779 40,078 (459,526) 243,590

$  576,710 $  782,922 $  176,454 $  (463,337) $  1,072,749
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The Greenbrier Companies, Inc.
    Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations
    For the year ended August 31, 2007

Combined
Combined Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

(In thousands) Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Revenue
Manufacturing $ (2,802) $ 540,163 $ 482,598 $  (281,535) $ 738,424
Refurbishment & parts � 381,151 519 � 381,670
Leasing & services 1,334 101,631 � 769 103,734

(1,468) 1,022,945 483,117 (280,766) 1,223,828
Cost of revenue
Manufacturing � 497,909 464,466 (281,467) 680,908
Refurbishment & parts � 317,265 404 317,669
Leasing & services � 45,882 � (64) 45,818

� 861,056 464,870 (281,531)  1,044,395
Margin (1,468) 161,889 18,247 765 179,433
Other costs
Selling and
administrative 33,615 34,200 15,596 3 83,414
Interest and foreign
exchange 32,626 2,691 4,628 (30) 39,915
Special charges 35 635 21,229 � 21,899

66,276 37,526 41,453 (27) 145,228
Earnings (loss) before
income taxes, minority
interest and equity in
unconsolidated
subsidiaries (67,744) 124,363 (23,206) 792 34,205
Income tax (expense)
benefit 36,243 (49,298) (294) (308) (13,657)

 (31,501) 75,065 (23,500) 484 20,548
Minority interest � � (100) 1,604 1,504
Equity in earnings
(loss) of unconsolidated
subsidiaries 53,511 2,734 � (56,287) (42)

Net earnings $ 22,010 $ 77,799  (23,600) $ (54,199) $ 22,010
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The Greenbrier Companies, Inc.
    Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
    For the year ended August 31, 2007

Combined
Combined Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

(In thousands) Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Cash flows from
operating activities:
Net earnings (loss) $ 22,010 $ 77,799 $ (23,600) $ (54,199) $ 22,010
Adjustments to reconcile
net earnings to net cash
provided by (used in)
operating activities:
Deferred income taxes 2,254 5,055 3,026 308 10,643
Depreciation and
amortization 221 26,634 6,035 (64) 32,826
Gain on sales of
equipment � (12,608) � (792) (13,400)
Special charges 35 635 21,229 � 21,899
Minority interest � 6,750 � (8,354) (1,604)
Other � 89 116 � 205
Decrease (increase) in
assets:
Accounts receivable 32,882 (51,660) (1,212) 2,107 (17,883)
Inventories � 5,654 8,606 � 14,260
Assets held for sale � 8,087 (3,709) � 4,378
Other (494) (67) 149 1 (411)
Increase (decrease) in
liabilities:
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities (23,426) 15,068 (14,135) (2,107) (24,600)
Deferred revenue (155) (5,435) 3,594 � (1,996)

Net cash provided by
(used in) operating
activities 33,327 76,001 99 (63,100) 46,327

Cash flows from
investing activities:
Principal payments
received under direct
finance leases � 511 � � 511
Proceeds from sales of
equipment � 119,695 � � 119,695
Investment in and net
advances to

(60,260) (3,625) � 63,036 (849)
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unconsolidated
subsidiaries
Acquisitions, net of cash
acquired � (268,184) � � (268,184)
Decrease in restricted
cash � � (454) � (454)
Capital expenditures (2,388) (118,691) (16,279) 64 (137,294)

Net cash provided by
(used in) investing
activities (62,648)  (270,294)  (16,733)  63,100  (286,575)

Cash flows from
financing activities:
Changes in revolving
notes � � 15,007 � 15,007
Intercompany advances (90,082) 93,069 (2,987) � �
Proceeds from issuance
of notes payable (71) 99,512 � � 99,441
Repayments of notes
payable (1,241) (3,020) (1,127) � (5,388)
Repayments of
subordinated debt � (2,091) � � (2,091)
Dividends paid (5,144) � � � (5,144)
Stock options exercised
and restricted stock
awards 3,489 � � � 3,489
Excess tax benefit of
stock options exercised 3,719 � � � 3,719
Investment by joint
venture partner � 6,750 � � 6,750

Net cash provided by
financing activities (89,330) 194,220 10,893 � 115,783

Effect of exchange rate
changes 378 38 1,963 � 2,379
Increase (decrease) in
cash and cash equivalents  (118,273) (35) (3,778) � (122,086)
Cash and cash
equivalents
Beginning of period 133,695 35 9,164 � 142,894

End of period $ 15,422 $ � $ 5,386 $ � $ 20,808
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The Greenbrier Companies, Inc.
    Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations
    For the year ended August 31, 2006

Combined
Combined Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

(In thousands) Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Revenue
Manufacturing $ 11,250 $  485,382 $  491,789 $  (239,603) $  748,818
Refurbishment & parts � 102,358 131 (18) 102,471
Leasing and services 4,839 99,745 � (2,050) 102,534

16,089 687,485 491,920 (241,671) 953,823
Cost of revenue
Manufacturing 10,191 428,164 467,329 (238,953) 666,731
Refurbishment & parts � 87,574 116 � 87,690
Leasing and services � 42,094 � (71) 42,023

10,191 557,832 467,445 (239,024) 796,444
Margin 5,898 129,653 24,475 (2,647) 157,379
Other costs
Selling and
administrative 17,258 42,116 11,545 (1) 70,918
Interest and foreign
exchange 23,432 3,266 1,244 (2,546) 25,396

40,690 45,382 12,789 (2,547) 96,314
Earnings (loss) before
income tax, minority
interest and equity in
earnings (loss) of
unconsolidated
subsidiaries  (34,792) 84,271 11,686 (100) 61,065
Income tax (expense)
benefit 11,169 (34,276) 1,361 48 (21,698)

(23,623) 49,995 13,047 (52) 39,367
Equity in earnings (loss)
of unconsolidated
subsidiaries 63,159 8,189 � (71,179) 169

Earnings from
continuing operations 39,536 58,184 13,047 (71,231) 39,536
Earnings from
discontinued operations
(net of tax) 62 � � � 62
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Net earnings $ 39,598 $ 58,184 $ 13,047 $ (71,231) $ 39,598
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The Greenbrier Companies, Inc.
    Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
    For the year ended August 31, 2006

Combined
Combined Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

(In thousands) Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Cash flows from
operating activities:
Net earnings (loss) $ 39,598 $ 58,184 $ 13,047 $ (71,231) $ 39,598
Adjustments to reconcile
net earnings to net cash
provided by (used in)
operating activities:
Earnings from
discontinued operations (62) � � � (62)
Deferred income taxes 1,752 9,531 (5,342) (48) 5,893
Depreciation and
amortization 56 19,510 5,759 (72) 25,253
Gain on sales of
equipment � (10,942) � (6) (10,948)
Other � 99 180 (1) 278
Decrease (increase) in
assets:
Accounts receivable (32,924) 29,436 18,932 (6,496) 8,948
Inventories � (8,879) (28,638) � (37,517)
Assets held for sale � (5,356) 6,113 (601) 156
Other 880 27,804 1,465 (27,572) 2,577
Increase (decrease) in
liabilities:
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 1,664 (22,038) 15,456 (42) (4,9600
Deferred revenue (155) 5,644 4,837 � 10,326

Net cash provided by
(used in) operating
activities 10,809 102,993 31,809 (106,069) 39,542

Cash flows from
investing activities:
Principal payments
received under direct
finance leases � 2,048 � � 2,048
Proceeds from sales of
equipment � 28,863 � � 28,863
Investment in and net
advances to

(95,367) (7,470) � 103,387 550
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unconsolidated
subsidiaries
Decrease in restricted
cash � � (1,958) � (1,958)
Capital expenditures � (132,934) (8,412) 777 (140,569)

Net cash provided by
(used in) investing
activities (95,367)  (109,493)  (10,370)  104,164  (111,066)

Cash flows from
financing activities:
Changes in revolving
notes � � 8,965 � 8,965
Intercompany advances (4,980) 23,562 (18,582) � �
Proceeds from issuance
of notes Payable 154,567 � � � 154,567
Repayments of notes
payable (1,143) (11,055) (7,493) 6,500 (13,191)
Repayments of
subordinated debt � (6,526) � � (6,526)
Dividends paid (5,042) � � � (5,042)
Stock options exercised
and restricted stock
awards 5,757 � � � 5,757
Tax benefit of stock
options exercised 2,600 � � � 2,600
Purchase of subsidiary�s
shares subject to
mandatory redemption � � � (4,636) (4,636)

Net cash provided by
(used in ) financing
activities 151,759 5,981 (17,110) 1,864 142,494

Effect of exchange rate
changes (266) 81 (1,095) � (1,280)
Increase (decrease) in
cash and cash equivalents 66,935 (438) 3,234 (41) 69,690
Cash and cash
equivalents
Beginning of period 66,760 473 5,930 41 73,204

End of period $  133,695 $ 35 $ 9,164 $ � $ 142,894
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Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

Operating results by quarter for 2008 are as follows:

(In thousands, except per share amount) First Second Third Fourth Total
2008
Revenue
Manufacturing $  159,194 $  123,394 $ 201,825 $  180,680 $   665,093
Refurbishment & parts 103,889 112,576 152,367 158,634 527,466
Leasing & services 23,295 23,603 27,914 22,708 97,520

286,378 259,573 382,106 362,022 1,290,079

Cost of revenue
Manufacturing 150,565 118,225 200,813 184,276 653,879
Refurbishment & parts 87,951 94,396 120,442 123,394 426,183
Leasing & services 11,925 12,279 12,218 11,352 47,774

250,441 224,900 333,473 319,022 1,127,836
Margin 35,937 34,673 48,633 43,000 162,243

Other costs
Selling and administrative 20,184 21,000 23,407 20,542 85,133
Interest and foreign exchange 10,419 9,854 9,990 10,507 40,770
Special charges 189 2,112 � 1 2,302

30,792 32,966 33,397 31,050 128,205
Earnings before income tax, minority
interest and equity in unconsolidated
subsidiary 5,145 1,707 15,236 11,950 34,038
Income tax expense (2,956) (1,904) (7,573) (6,117) (18,550)
Minority interest 375 1,367 272 1,168 3,182
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated 78 253 191 350 872
subsidiary

Net earnings $ 2,642 $ 1,423 $ 8,126 $ 7,351 $ 19,542

Basic earnings per common share: $ 0.16 $ 0.09 $ 0.49 $ 0 .45 $ 1.19
Diluted earnings per common share: $ 0.16 $ 0.09 $ 0.49 $ 0 .45 $ 1.19
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Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

Operating results by quarter for 2007 are as follows:

(In thousands, except per share amount) First Second Third Fourth Total
2007
Revenue
Manufacturing $  168,692 $  119,201 $  241,399 $  209,132 $   738,424
Refurbishment & parts 51,236 95,311 118,213 116,910 381,670
Leasing & services 26,695 25,466 26,994 24,579 103,734

246,623 239,978 386,606 350,621 1,223,828

Cost of revenue
Manufacturing 161,688 115,822 221,203 182,195 680,908
Refurbishment & parts 45,007 80,114 96,288 96,260 317,669
Leasing & services 10,811 12,220 11,339 11,448 45,818

217,506 208,156 328,830 289,903 1,044,395
Margin 29,117 31,822 57,776 60,718 179, 433

Other costs
Selling and administrative 17,124 18,800 20,092 27,398 83,414
Interest and foreign exchange 9,641 10,416 10,930 8,928 39,915
Special charges � 16,485 3,091 2,323 21,899

26,765 45,701 34,113 38,649 145,228
Earnings (loss) before income tax,
minority interest and equity in
unconsolidated subsidiary 2,352 (13,879) 23,663 22,069 34,205
Income tax benefit (expense) (580) 8,229 (11,047) (10,259) (13,657)
Minority interest (2) 42 178 1,286 1,504
Equity in earnings (loss) of
unconsolidated subsidiary 100 (463) 223 98 (42)

Net earnings (loss) $ 1,870 $ (6,071) $ 13,017 $ 13,194 $ 22,010

Basic earnings (loss) per common
share: $ 0.12 $ (0.38) $ 0.81 $ 0.82 $ 1.37
Diluted earnings (loss) per common
share: $ 0.12 $ (0.38) $ 0.81 $ 0.82 $ 1.37
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
The Greenbrier Companies, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Greenbrier Companies, Inc.
and subsidiaries (the �Company�) as of August 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated
statements of income, stockholders� equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended August 31, 2008. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of The Greenbrier Companies, Inc. and subsidiaries as of August 31, 2008 and
2007, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended August 31, 2008, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the Company�s internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2008,
based on the criteria established in Internal Control � Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated November 6, 2008
expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company�s internal control over financial reporting.

Portland, Oregon
November 6, 2008

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
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Item 9a. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management has evaluated, under the supervision and with the participation of our President and
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation, our President and
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of the period
covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in ensuring that
information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is (1) recorded, processed,
summarized and reported in a timely manner, and (2) accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our President and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Controls
There have been no material changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during our last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management�s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management of The Greenbrier Companies, Inc. together with its consolidated subsidiaries (the
Company), is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. The Company�s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the
supervision of the Company�s principal executive and principal financial officers to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the
Company�s financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As of the end of the Company�s 2008 fiscal year, management conducted an assessment of the
effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting based on the framework
established in Internal Control � Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment, management has
determined that the Company�s internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2008 is
effective.

During fiscal 2008, the Company acquired two operations as discussed in the Note 3 of the Company�s
Consolidated Financial Statements. Management has excluded these acquisitions from its assessment
of internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2008 as it was determined that
Management could not complete an assessment of the internal control over financial reporting of the
acquired businesses in the period between the acquisition dates and the date of management�s
assessment. Total assets and revenues of these entities represent approximately 4% of the related
Consolidated Financial Statement amounts as of and for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls
The Company�s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does
not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting
will prevent or detect all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and
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operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system�s objectives will
be met. The design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the
benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Further, because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that
misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if
any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that
judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or
mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of
two or more people, or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls
is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no
assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future
conditions. Projections of any evaluation of controls effectiveness to future periods are subject to
risks. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration
in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.
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Report Of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
The Greenbrier Companies, Inc

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of The Greenbrier Companies, Inc. and
subsidiaries (the �Company�) as of August 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control �
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. As described in �Management�s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting,�
management excluded from its assessment the internal control over financial reporting at Roller
Bearing Industries and American Allied Railway Equipment Company, which were acquired on
April 4, 2008 and March 28, 2008, respectively, and whose financial statements constitute
approximately 4% of total assets, 4% of total revenues, and 27% of total net income, of the
consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended August 31, 2008. Accordingly,
our audit did not include the internal control over financial reporting at Roller Bearing Industries and
American Allied Railway Equipment Company. The Company�s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying �Management�s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting�. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company�s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company�s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the
supervision of, the company�s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons
performing similar functions, and effected by the company�s board of directors, management, and
other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company�s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company�s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the
possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to
error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation
of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the
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risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of August 31, 2008, based on the criteria established in Internal Control �
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended August 31,
2008 of the Company and our report dated November 6, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on
those financial statements.

Portland, Oregon
November 6, 2008

Item 9b. OTHER INFORMATION

None
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PART III

Item 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

There is hereby incorporated by reference the information under the captions �Election of Directors�
and �Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance� and �Executive Officers of the
Company� in the Company�s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A, which
Proxy Statement is anticipated to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within
120 days after the end of Registrant�s year ended August 31, 2008.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

There is hereby incorporated by reference the information under the caption �Executive Compensation�
in Registrant�s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A, which Proxy
Statement is anticipated to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days
after the end of Registrant�s year ended August 31, 2008.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDERS MATTERS

There is hereby incorporated by reference the information under the captions �Voting� and �Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management� in Registrant�s definitive Proxy Statement
to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A, which Proxy Statement is anticipated to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of Registrant�s year ended
August 31, 2008.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND
DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

There is hereby incorporated by reference the information under the caption �Certain Relationships
and Related Party Transactions� in Registrant�s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A, which Proxy Statement is anticipated to be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission within 120 days after the end of Registrant�s year ended August 31, 2008.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

There is hereby incorporated by reference the information under the caption �Ratification of
Appointment of Auditors� in Registrant�s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A, which Proxy Statement is anticipated to be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission within 120 days after the end of the Registrant�s year ended August 31, 2008.
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PART IV

Item 15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

           (1) Financial Statements

           See Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8

(a)      (2) Financial Statements Schedule*

           Condensed Financial Information of Registrant

* All other schedules have been omitted because they are inapplicable, not required or because the
information is given in the Consolidated Financial Statements or notes thereto. This supplemental
schedule should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes
thereto included in this report.

(a)    (3) The following exhibits are filed herewith and this list is intended to constitute the exhibit
index:

3.1 Registrant�s Articles of Incorporation are incorporated herein by reference by
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant�s Form 10-Q filed April 5, 2006.

3.2 Articles of Merger amending the Registrant�s Articles of Incorporation, is incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant�s Form 10-Q filed April 5, 2006.

3.3 Registrant�s Bylaws, as amended January 11, 2006, are incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Registrant�s Form 10-Q filed April 5, 2006.

3.4 Amendment to the Registrant�s Bylaws dated October 31, 2006, is incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant�s Form 8-K filed November 6, 2006.

3.5 Amendment to the Registrant�s Bylaws dated January 8, 2008, is incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant�s Form 8-K filed November 8, 2007.

3.6 Amendment to the Registrant�s Bylaws dated April 8, 2008, is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant�s Form 8-K filed April 11, 2008.

4.1 Indenture between the Registrant, AutoStack Corporation, Greenbrier-Concarril, LLC,
Greenbrier Leasing Corporation, Greenbrier Leasing Limited Partner, LLC,
Greenbrier Management Services, LLC, Greenbrier Leasing, L.P., Greenbrier Railcar,
Inc., Gunderson, Inc., Gunderson Marine, Inc., Gunderson Rail Services, Inc.,
Gunderson Specialty Products, LLC and U.S. Bank National Association as Trustee
dated May 11, 2005, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Registrant�s Form 8-K filed May 13, 2005.

4.2 Indenture between the Registrant, the Guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank
National Association as Trustee dated May 22, 2006, is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant�s Form 8-K filed May 25, 2006.

4.3 Rights Agreement, dated as of July 13, 2004, between the Registrant and EquiServe
Trust Company, N.A., as Rights Agent, is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant�s Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed September 16,
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2004.
4.4 Amendment No. 1, dated November 9, 2004, to the Rights Agreement, dated as of

July 13, 2004, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant�s
Form 8-K filed November 15, 2004.

4.5 Amendment No. 2, dated February 5, 2005, to the Rights Agreement, dated as of
July 13, 2004, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant�s
Form 8-K filed February 9, 2005.

10.1 Registration Rights Agreement among the Registrant and Banc of America Securities
LLC and Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., dated May 11, 2005, is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant�s Form 8-K filed May 13, 2005.

10.2 Registration Rights Agreement among the Registrant and Banc of America LLC and
Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., dated November 21, 2005, is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant�s Form 8-K filed December 1, 2005.
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EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES (continued)

10.3 Registration Rights Agreement among the Registrant, the Guarantors named therein,
Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. and Banc of America Securities LLC, dated May 22, 2006,
is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant�s Form 8-K filed
May 25, 2006.

10.4 Purchase Agreement among the Registrant, the Guarantors named therein, Bear,
Stearns & Co. Inc., and Banc of America Securities LLC, as initial purchasers, and
the guaranteeing subsidiaries named therein, dated May 17, 2006, is incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant�s Form 8-K filed May 18, 2006.

10.5 Purchase Agreement among the Registrant and Banc of America Securities LLC and
Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., as initial purchasers, dated November 16, 2005, is
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant�s Form 8-K filed
December 1, 2005.

10.6* Employment Agreement dated April 7, 2006 between Mr. Mark Rittenbaum and
Registrant, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant�s
Form 8-K filed April 13, 2006.

10.7* Amendment dated June 24, 2008 to Employment Agreement dated April 7, 2006
between Mark Rittenbaum and Registrant.

10.8* Employment Agreement dated April 20, 2005 between the Registrant and
Mr. William A. Furman, is incorporated herein by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant�s Form 8-K filed April 20, 2005.

10.9* Amendment dated May 11, 2006 to Employment Agreement between Mr. William
A. Furman and Registrant dated April 20, 2005, is incorporated by reference herein
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant�s Form 8-K filed May 12, 2006.

10.10* Amendment dated November 1, 2006 to Employment Agreement between the
Registrant and Mr. William A. Furman dated April 20, 2005 is incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant�s Form 8-K filed November 6, 2006.

10.11* Amendment dated June 5, 2008 to Employment Agreement between the Registrant
and William A. Furman.

10.12* Employment Agreement dated May 11, 2006 between Robin Bisson and Registrant,
is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant�s Form 8-K filed
May 12, 2006.

10.13* Employment Agreement between Timothy A. Stuckey and Registrant.
10.14* 2007 Restated Greenbrier Leasing Corporation�s Manager Owned Target Benefit

Plan.
10.15 Form of Agreement concerning Indemnification and Related Matters (Directors)

between Registrant and its directors.
10.16 Form of Agreement concerning Indemnification and Related Matters (Officers)

between Registrant and its officers.
10.17* Stock Incentive Plan � 2000, dated as of April 6, 1999 is incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
November 24, 1999.

10.18* Amendment No. 1 to the Stock Incentive Plan � 2000, is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant�s Form 10-Q filed April 11, 2001.

10.19* Amendment No. 2 to the Stock Incentive Plan � 2000, is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant�s Form 10-Q filed April 11, 2001.

10.20*
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Amendment No 3 to the Stock Incentive Plan � 2000, is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Registrant�s Form 10-K filed November 27, 2002.

10.21 The Greenbrier Companies Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.
10.22* Employment Agreement dated April 7, 2008 between James T. Sharp and

Registrant, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant�s
Form 8-K filed April 11, 2008.

10.23* Amendment dated June 26, 2008 to Employment Agreement dated April 7, 2008
between James T. Sharp and Registrant.

10.24* Form of Employee Restricted Share Agreement (5 year vesting) related to the 2005
Stock Incentive Plan.

10.25* Form of Employee Restricted Share Agreement (time and performance vesting)
related to the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan.
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EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES (continued)

10.26* Form of Change of Control Agreement for Senior Managers.
10.27* 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan is incorporated herein by reference to

Appendix B to the Registrant�s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed
November 25, 2003.

10.28* 2005 Stock Incentive Plan is incorporated herein by reference to Appendix C to the
Registrant�s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed November 24, 2004.

10.29* Amendment No. 1 dated June 30, 2005 to the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan dated
June 30, 2005 is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Registrant�s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed November 4, 2005.

10.30* Amendment No. 2 dated April 3, 2007 to the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan, dated
April 3, 2007 is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant�s
Form 10-Q filed July 10, 2007.

10.31 Stock purchase agreement among Gunderson Rail Services LLC and Meridian Rail
Holdings Corp. dated October 15, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.34 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed November 2,
2006.

10.32 Asset Purchase Agreement among Gunderson Rail Services LLC, American Allied
Railway Equipment Co., Inc., and American Allied Freight Car Co., Inc. dated
January 24, 2008, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the
Registrant�s Form 8-K filed April 3, 2008.

10.33* Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated January 8, 2008
between the Registrant and Larry G. Brady is incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant�s Form 8-K filed July 11, 2008.

21.1 List of the subsidiaries of the Registrant
23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent auditors
31.1(a) Certification pursuant to Rule 13(a) � 14(a)
31.2(b) Certification pursuant to Rule 13(a) � 14(a)
32.1(c) Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2(d) Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

CERTIFICATIONS

The Company filed the required 303A.12(a) New York Stock Exchange Certification of its Chief
Financial Officer with the New York Stock Exchange with no qualifications following the 2007
Annual Meeting of Shareholders and the Company filed as an exhibit to its Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended August 31, 2007, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, a Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and a Certification of the Chief Financial
Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

THE GREENBRIER COMPANIES, INC.

Dated: November 6, 2008 By: 
/s/  William A. Furman

William A. Furman
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

Signature Date

/s/  Benjamin R. Whiteley

Benjamin R. Whiteley, Chairman of the
Board

November 6, 2008

/s/  William A. Furman

William A. Furman, President and Chief
Executive Officer, Director

November 6, 2008

/s/  Graeme Jack

Graeme Jack, Director

November 6, 2008

/s/  Duane McDougall

Duane McDougall, Director

November 6, 2008

/s/  A. Daniel O�Neal

A. Daniel O�Neal, Director

November 6, 2008

/s/  Charles J. Swindells November 6, 2008
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Charles J. Swindells, Director

/s/  C. Bruce Ward

C. Bruce Ward, Director

November 6, 2008

/s/  Donald A. Washburn

Donald A. Washburn, Director

November 6, 2008

/s/  Mark J. Rittenbaum

Mark J. Rittenbaum, Executive Vice
President, Treasurer And Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

November 6, 2008

/s/  James W. Cruckshank

James W. Cruckshank, Senior Vice
President And Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

November 6, 2008
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